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PROLOGUE

When I was first approached in 2019 with the fact that all was not well behind palace walls, and that Meghan and Harry were causing real problems and huge concerns with their attitudes, demands, and conduct, I confess I had little or no interest in either of them or their story. It was only after I was flooded with information that I came to understand that something really intriguing was developing, and that it was a subject I might beneficially address.

I have little doubt that the books I had written on Diana, Princess of Wales, played a part in why I was initially informed, then thereafter kept abreast of, what one well-connected friend described to me as the ‘developing disaster’.

I have never made a secret of the fact that for the first forty years of my life I was neither particularly pro nor anti-monarchist. Although I had functioned throughout my life in a world where royalty was an accepted part of the whole, I was sufficiently free thinking to question whether the institution of monarchy might not have outlived its usefulness in the modern world. Having always been a history buff, I was aware that both Queen Elisabeth of Romania and Empress Elisabeth of Austria shared that view, so felt no awkwardness about this neutrality as I lived a life in part surrounded by royalty, some of whom were close friends.

Like many women of my background, I had been raised to do charity work, and throughout my twenties and thirties and into my forties, unpaid fundraising for worthy causes was my primary occupation. As a result, I was only too aware that a cause linked to the royals and even better, with a royal in attendance, was always more financially successful than one without, but it was only after I wrote Diana in Private that I began to see that a head of state who is a constitutional monarch provides an essential public service that no elected representative can. This is due to two main facts. The first is that the monarch’s existence prevents the ultimate grasp for power that most politicians are prone to, and the second is that he or she is the representative embodiment of all the country’s citizens, even those who are anti-monarchist, in a way that no elected head of state can be. Elected heads of state invariably have links to one or another political party, thereby disqualifying them as embodiments of supporters of alternative parties. It is only when one becomes closely involved with the mechanics of monarchy that one realises the dedication to duty that is involved, even with minor royals such as the Dukes and Duchesses of Kent and Gloucester, or Princess Alexandra.

Despite the luxuriousness of their surroundings, royalty as a class is brought up to be self-abnegating, to put its responsibilities to the country before its own personal desires, to tolerate smilingly the daily dullness that is 98% of the worthy but unexciting tasks which it is called upon to fulfil as it meets ordinary people and acknowledges their invaluable contribution as they go about fulfilling their unexciting but worthwhile lives. Royals must remember, as Queen Mary put it, that they ‘love visiting hospitals’, and that they are no longer there by Divine Right but with the consent of the people, whom they ‘serve’, as Queen Elizabeth II put it.

It is not possible to embody, much less represent, all the citizens of your society if you lose sight of the altruism which is central to your existence. Privilege has a price, and when royalty forgets it, and decides to milk the system rather than fulfil its part of the bargain, trouble will inevitably follow.

In 2019, when I started writing the original version of this book, I believed that I was fulfilling two valid purposes. On the one hand I was enlightening the public to a fascinating scenario that was developing behind the scenes, and on the other I was issuing a shot across the bow to Meghan and Harry, who, it was hoped, would think again before continuing down what was patently a dangerous pathway, one which had the obvious potential to damage them as much as it would the institution they were seeking to change and exploit for their own personal gain.

As I wrote the first edition of this book, I was failing to grasp the enormity of what they were truly about. It was obvious that one was dealing with extremely entitled and self-regarding individuals who had little thought for anyone but themselves and their own desires, but even so,I did not imagine the lengths to which they would go as they pursued an agenda which was antithetical to everything the monarchy represents.

Certainly, I was au fait enough with what Meghan and Harry were about, to recognise that I was describing individuals whose aims and conduct were discomfitingly reminiscent of what had led Dr. Erika Freeman, that most eminent of psychoanalysts, to recommend that I write Daughter of Narcissus (2009), a serious examination of Narcissistic Personality Disorder and related personality disorders. It was as a result of the knowledge I gained while writing that book that I was able to see relatively clearly what was what with both Meghan and Harry, but even so, what has happened between 2019 and 2024 has been so gross, and so grotesque, that even I have been taken aback.

Sadly, the couple’s conduct has led me to conclude that we are dealing with a deeply disturbing couple whose self-indulgence is matched only by their self-centredness and self-regard. It gives me no pleasure to say so. I am Jamaican born and bred. As anyone who knows anything about me can confirm, I am proud of my Jamaican roots. I had a ringside seat at how race relations have evolved since the 1950s; Jamaica was at the forefront of inclusivity in a way that neither the United Kingdom nor the United States was. I have friends and relations of all hues, and am mindful as only a Jamaican can be of how wonderful racial harmony is. As a child, I was genuinely colour blind, making no distinction between people as a result of their colour. As a young teenager, I was horrified to go to the United States and discover that we could not ask friends of colour back to our hotel for tea, because people of colour were not allowed in white hotels. Like all Jamaicans, I have heartfelt regard for our national motto: ‘Out of Many, One People.’

I knew to what extent people of colour, not only in Jamaica and in the Caribbean but throughout the Commonwealth, were invested in Meghan’s success. She was the living embodiment of what people of colour could attain, and, like everyone I have ever come across who views racial harmony as the desirable feature of life which it is, I anticipated that she would remain the beacon of hope that people all over the world viewed her as being.

There was therefore much more to the Meghan and Harry story than just Meghan and Harry. I saw it. She certainly saw it. I hoped that, by writing the original version of this book, she would realise the unique and wonderful opportunity to do genuine good that she had both earned through her own labours, through her ambitions, contrivance, hustle, and determination, as well as through the endowments which came along with the position of royal duchess of colour. To say that I was disappointed, as she set about using her colour in ways that create divisiveness rather than harmony, does not begin to describe the increasing horror that her conduct caused. Nor was it my horror alone. The royals themselves were horrified, as were their friends and relations. Courtiers who had dedicated years, sometimes decades, to the monarchy reeled from the shock. Caribbean and African diplomats approached me, dismayed by the damage being wrought to race relations throughout the Commonwealth, not to mention the potential they detected for further adverse consequences in the future.

Megxit occurred in January 2020, the month before the initial book was due to be turned in.. This had consequences for the book itself, which then had to be rewritten to accommodate the changes. Even so, I hoped that Meghan and Harry would find it in themselves to live up to the glorious opportunity they possessed to do genuine good, rather than pursue a path of self-aggrandising posturing, passing itself off as good.

In the 4 years since Harry joyously declared in his 2022 Netflix documentary, ‘We are on the freedom flight. We are leaving Canada and we are headed to Los Angeles (14th March, 2020),’ the world has been treated to a truly astonishing exhibition. Rather than being champions of racial inclusivity, Meghan and Harry have assiduously played the race card to the detriment of positive race relations throughout the Commonwealth, in a way that not even the concerned diplomats could have foreseen in 2019 and 2020. While professing to want privacy for themselves, they have flagrantly and contradictorily violated the privacy of their nearest and dearest.

What would have taken me aback had I not written Daughter of Narcissus, has been the maliciousness, deviousness and blatant two-facedness they have shown as they set about garnering as many laurels and making as much money for themselves as they possibly could, always at the expense of others to whom they owed duties of care and loyalty. They thought they were making mockeries of people and of institutions which would result in them becoming more and more popular and richer than ever. Instead of which they have become, in the last year, such figures of ridicule even in Hollywood - which was always Meghan’s target - that they were roasted by comedian Jo Koy at the 2024 Golden Globes as being lazy money grubbers who fail to give value for money to their paymasters and try to cadge money off his relations. This followed the animated mockery they were subjected to earlier that year by South Park and Family Guy, as well as other signs of rot, such as Kitson - the popular Los Angeles department store - displaying them in their Holiday Hypocrisy Window.

Meghan and Harry have emerged as a genuine, living morality tale. Part Sophoclean tragedy, part Shakespearean drama, part Feydeau farce, they have failed to live up to their original promise, which was that they would be ideal representatives of racial inclusivity and show how love and their embodiment of royal virtues can conquer prejudice. Rather than his remaining the most popular male royal, which he was at the time of his marriage, and of her becoming the most popular and respected woman on earth, which she would now have been had she simply played with a straight bat and as we were all led to believe she would do during their BBC TV interview at the time of their engagement, they have become what The Hollywood Reporter - one of the showbiz industry’s ‘bibles’ - declared as two of the biggest losers of 2023.

How and why it all went wrong is their real story. It is also their unwitting contribution to society. They could have been examples of the glorious possibilities that exist when one lives up to the opportunities which one achieves as well as is given in life. Instead, they have shown us how lack of appreciation and other human failings will squander any opportunity if you are inclined to be exploitative and self-indulgent, and, in the process, have provided us with a wholly unexpected raison d’être.

Castle Goring.

14th February, 2024






CHAPTER 1

On May 19th 2018, when Meghan Markle stepped out of the antique Rolls Royce which had taken the Duchess of Windsor to her husband’s funeral and was now conveying Meghan and her mother Doria Ragland from the former Astor stately home Cliveden to St. George’s Chapel, Windsor, where she was due to be married at 12 noon, she was a veritable vision of loveliness. At that moment, one of the biggest names of the age was born and it seemed, to those of us without deep knowledge of what was happening and had gone on behind the scenes, that she would go from strength to strength - and might even supplant Harry’s mother Diana, Princess of Wales, as an Icon for the Age.

As the actress ascended the steps of St. George’s Chapel, its interior and exterior gorgeously decorated in the most lavish and tasteful spring flowers, she projected a picture of demure and fetching modesty, stylish elegance, and apparent joyousness, as she represented a Hollywood-style idea of beauty. The simplicity of her white silk wedding dress, designed by Clare Waight Keller of Givenchy, with its bateau neckline, three-quarter length sleeves, and stark, unadorned but stunningly simple bodice and skirt, coupled with the extravagant veil, five metres long and three metres wide, heavily embroidered with two of her favourite flowers, wintersweet and California poppy, as well as the fifty three native flowers of the various Commonwealth countries and symbolic crops of wheat, and a piece of the blue dress that the bride had worn on her first date with the groom, although the groom would later on claim that the colour of that dress was black. She gave out a powerful message.

All bridal gowns make statements. Diana, Princess of Wales, according to her friend Carolyn Pride, used hers to announce to the world, ‘Here I am. Take notice. I’m not a bit shy and intend everyone to know who I am,’ while Catherine Middleton’s had stated, ‘I am stylish, athletic, and traditional. I aim to please, and I relish my femininity. I possess exquisite but conservative taste, with just a hint of daring beneath the surface.’ Meghan’s not only conveyed that she loved clothes, was a feminine woman despite her avowed feminism, and something of an impact specialist where presentation is concerned, but also that she was a thoughtful, considered, deliberate and aware individual who would use traditions as and when they suited her, but was prepared to jettison them when they did not. She struck the absolutely right note for someone who was making her public debut into the world’s leading royal family, conveying to the citizenry that her virtues were sterling and her performance would be polished.

Beneath the message, however, there was controversy. Queen Elizabeth II was widely reported to be surprised that her soon-to-be-granddaughter-in-law, already officially married and divorced once, had chosen virginal white in defiance of all accepted custom in royal and aristocratic circles, where a nod in the direction of reality dictated that no colour lighter than cream should be worn. But Meghan was starting out as she intended to continue. Royal and aristocratic traditions were of scant importance to someone whose self-belief was so rock solid that her father-in-law-to-be had already nicknamed her ‘Tungsten’.

The colour of her dress was not the only surprise Meghan delivered on her wedding day. Traditionally, after the couple signs the registry and rejoins the congregation, the bride curtsies to the Queen and the groom bows. It has always been done, and it was expected by all that it would be done on the 19th May 2018. Princess Anne did it at her two weddings. Diana did it at hers. So too did Princess Alexandra, the Duchess of Edinburgh when she was the newly-minted Countess of Wessex, and the Duchesses of York, Kent and Cambridge. However, as Meghan rejoined the congregation and set about walking down the aisle with a beaming Prince Harry by her side, any curtsy she might have made to the Queen was missed by onlookers and the TV cameras as the new royal glided by with absolute self-possession and in the certain knowledge that she, not the Queen or anyone else, was the star of this show which she would later label a ‘spectacle’ to Oprah Winfrey. This evident omission caused consternation throughout the assembled company at St. George’s Chapel, one of whom told me, ‘No one could believe it. She walked out, sailed down the aisle, with not so much as the merest bob in the direction of Her Majesty.’ The Queen is not on record as having made a comment or a complaint, but, as one of the royal guests told me, ‘She will have noticed. Everyone did.’

Like many of the people present, I put Meghan’s omission down to nervousness and forgetfulness. It really is easy for people who are not used to royal ways to forget each and every dance step in the choreography of royal life. Not everyone took so benevolent a view, especially as the run-up to the wedding had been fraught with scenes, tantrums and demands, most of which were carefully concealed from the public. Already Meghan was acquiring a reputation in Court circles for being difficult, demanding, and headstrong, even a bully; while Harry, who had up to then enjoyed a reputation for affability even if he was also known to be hot-headed, was already acknowledged as being Meghan’s chief backer.

A case in point was the fuss Harry and Meghan made over the emerald and diamond kokoshnik tiara Princess Eugenie had chosen for her wedding. The date of her marriage had had to be pushed back to allow Harry, who took precedence over her, to be married first. The tiara she had chosen once belonged to Grand Duchess Xenia of Russia, Tsar Nicholas II’s elder sister. It had been sold to the Royal Family when the grand duchess was given refuge in England following the Russian Revolution and the execution of her brother and many other members of her family at the hands of the Bolsheviks. Grand Duchess Xenia had, ironically enough, lived at Harry and Meghan’s final English home, Frogmore Cottage, with her six sons whose linguistic skills were exceeded only by their predisposition to quietude and were known as ‘the princes who are silent in five languages’.

The Queen had promised Eugenie the use of that tiara. There the matter should have rested, and would have, had Meghan not decided that she wanted to wear Grand Duchess Xenia’s kokoshnik at her wedding. There were, of course, other tiaras from which to choose. Most of the really spectacular tiaras in the British Royal Family’s collection actually come from the Russian Imperial Family, and were bought by Queen Mary, the late Queen Elizabeth II’s grandmother and a great collector of jewels, art, and furniture. These tiaras include the famous Grand Duchess Vladimir Tiara with the detachable drop emeralds and pearls, which is only ever worn by a present or future queen. As the future wife of a second son of an Heir Presumptive, Meghan never had a choice of the truly spectacular jewels, to include the Vladimir or Greville tiaras, which were worn by the then Camilla (Duchess of) Cornwall. Jewels are allocated according to precedence, and what a senior royal wears, a junior royal cannot.

Although Meghan did have a choice, no incoming bride can just scoop up whatever jewels she wants and wear them as if by right. She has no right to anything. All she can do is accept a loan; and a loan, moreover, that means that the lower down the order of precedence she is, the more limited her choice. Meghan, however, is a clothes horse, and believes she knows what suits her and works best to portray the image she wants to project. Nor is she the daughter of an award-winning lighting engineer for nothing. From early childhood she was privy to the secrets of good lighting and photography. She is bright enough to be capable and she learnt her lessons well. Her many years in front of the camera have also honed her skill in choosing what she hopes works well for her. One of her favourite words before she married into the British Royal Family was ‘classy’, though her version is actually a wannabee’s version that no woman of refinement would embrace. She also understands glamour as few other women do. Regarding herself as more intelligent than most gives her extreme confidence, and allows her to consider that she has a more historically incisive dimension than someone of her background would typically possess. There is little doubt that Grand Duchess Xenia’s kokoshnik appealed not only because it is spectacular, but also because its history is romantic and exotic. Who, with Meghan’s sensibilities, would fail to want the more spectacular and historic tiara over Queen Mary’s bandeau, made in 1932 to accommodate a brooch which is still detachable?

If Meghan’s choice could not be faulted as regards taste, it was criticised on promissory grounds. Queen Elizabeth II had promised the Xenia Tiara to Eugenie. She could not very well have her granddaughter’s thunder stolen by a granddaughter-in-law. Meghan was made to settle for Queen Mary’s Bandeau, but only after the Queen was driven to remind the couple through her dresser, assistant, designer and close friend Angela Kelly that they had to take what was on offer, and could not choose from what wasn’t. This of course earned Mrs Kelly both Meghan and Harry’s ire, as he made clear in his post-factual remembrances Spare in 2022.

The kerfuffle over the tiara might have rested there, with no one any the wiser, had Harry and Meghan not also made an almighty fuss about such things as the scent of St. George’s Chapel and the ingredients of certain dishes being prepared for the wedding. Harry kept on asserting, ‘What Meghan wants, Meghan gets,’ as the entitled Meghan’s requirements escalated; and staff at the palace, charged with implementing her desires, began objecting to some of the demands. There was an incident whereby Meghan virtually called someone a liar by insisting that a dish contained an ingredient which she had banned and the culprit was insisting it did not contain, causing the Queen to point out that royals don’t speak to their staff like that. There was also the scene Meghan made, insisting that St. George’s Chapel smelt musty, demanding that it be perfumed with scents of her choice: a suggestion that went down like a lead balloon, and did not result in her having her way but in being reminded of with whom and with what she was dealing. As one courtier told me, ‘We were really astonished to find that this minor TV actress from California was so demanding that she was giving us the message that we should up our game and satisfy her much higher standards. The arrogance and impertinence were breathtaking, exceeded only by the disrespect.’

Before the marriage, therefore, the rumblings about Meghan and Harry’s behaviour had begun. The public, of course, remained unaware of any of this. The hope was that Meghan was suffering from pre-wedding nerves, that once she was married things would settle down; and that Harry, who was rapidly alienating admirers and gaining an unwanted reputation for throwing his weight around in a wholly unacceptable manner, would revert to the right-on, lovable albeit headstrong bloke he had been up to then.

In royal and aristocratic circles, everyone wanted the marriage to be a success. Although there had been initial reservations about the suitability of the union, owing to the celerity with which Harry and Meghan got together as well as Meghan’s checkered history, and the fear that each of them might have been blinded by their desires and might not be well-suited for the long haul, the last thing anyone wanted was yet another divorce. Once it became apparent that Harry was determined to marry her, the whole Royal Family and the Court fell into line. Her virtues were focused upon, not only in terms of her apparent intelligence and patent determination, but also, when she chose to turn them on, her sweetness of manner, charm, vivacity, sense of humour and last, but by no means least, heritage. The fact that she was a good looking, stylish, glamorous, photogenic, mature woman with an avowed interest in philanthropy was one thing, but what sealed things in her favour was her ancestry. Not only was she an American, and a well-educated one with a patina of sophistication, but she was also a woman of colour. The late Queen, whose wit was well-known, said to a friend, ‘Mr Corbyn (then the feared anti-monarchist leader of the opposition Labour Party) will find it much more difficult to get rid of us now that Meghan’s in the family.’ This conveyed a welcome degree of truth as well as humour, for Meghan’s bi-racial identity made the monarchy both reflective and representative of multiracial, multicultural Britain in a way that a white, 37 year old, California-born actress who had been a cast member of a cable television series, and whose past left much to be desired, could never have been.

The British press and general public also embraced Meghan’s mixed-race heritage. There had been other mixed-race unions in other royal houses, and the general feeling was that it was high time the British Royal Family caught up with its Continental cousins. The Queen of Denmark’s second son had married a Eurasian woman. The Ruling Prince of Lichtenstein’s second son had married a Panamanian-born American of colour. Prince Rainier of Monaco’s nephew had married a West Indian of colour. Two of the Archduke Geza of Austria’s sons had married three Sub-Saharan Africans. The Queen had given her blessing when two of her first cousins-once-removed, the Hon. James Lascelles and Lady Davina Windsor, had married people of colour, the former to the Nigerian Joy Elias-Rilwan in 1999 and the latter to Gary Christie Lewis, a Māori carpenter/house renovator, in 2004. Both these cousins, however, were merely members of the extended royal family as distinct from being a part of the actual Royal Family. Meghan Markle’s inclusion in the very heart of the British Royal Family would therefore send out a positive message which would not only play well in Britain, but in the Commonwealth too.

It is fair to say that practically everyone welcomed the marriage, and no one at Court wanted the behind-the-scenes difficulties to leak out, lest they influence the public’s opinion and acceptance of Meghan. Her father’s non-attendance and the dearth of family on Meghan’s side were unwelcome blips which the palace had done their utmost to prevent, with the family itself encouraging Meghan to ask more members of her family. The late Queen even offered to facilitate Thomas Markle’s arrival in any way she could help. However, the resistance of the bride proved to be unshakeable, and it was deemed advisable to go along with her wishes when it became obvious that she was determined to remain inflexible.

With Meghan’s wishes in mind, everything was managed with the efficiency that is characteristic of the well-oiled machine that is the more than a thousand year old British monarchy. The day itself went off without a hitch. According to Nielsen, 29 million Americans and 18 million Britons watched the wedding, while the Economic Times estimated that 1.9 billion people tuned in worldwide.

That night, the bride ratified her style credentials by wearing a classical white silk-crepe halter neckline evening dress by Stella McCartney to the black tie reception at Frogmore House. Situated on the Crown Estate in Windsor Great Park, it is a five minute drive from the castle. Harry drove Meghan there in an ice-blue E-Type Jaguar, which coordinated perfectly with the large emerald-cut aquamarine ring belonging to his mother Diana: this Meghan wore on her right hand. According to people who were there, it was a great party with a wonderful atmosphere, and the couple seemed very much in love. ‘Not since the early days of Prince and Princess Michael’s marriage have I seen a royal couple so in love,’ a friend said. ‘They can’t keep their hands off each other. It really is very touching.’

To those of us who understood its relevance, this comparison was not necessarily the endorsement it might seem to the uninitiated, for there are those who believe that Marie-Christine Kent’s primary motivation was not the character of her undoubtedly obliging and witty husband but his royal rank, and the price he has paid for a show of matrimonial harmony has been high indeed.

After what appeared to be such a brilliant start, one would have hoped that Harry and Meghan would continue to be as feted and admired as they were on their wedding day. Everyone I knew was rooting for them. They even made the mature and, some would say, ‘woke’ choice of not going on honeymoon immediately. Meghan and Harry both made it known that they were deeply committed to their work, which would revolve around charitable and humanitarian activities. They were both in their thirties, and, having been living together prior to the marriage, hardly had need of a honeymoon in the same way as a young couple starting out life together would.

Yet, four days after the wedding, I was having dinner at the house of a well-connected aristocrat with impeccable palace connections when I heard a report that filled me with foreboding. The day before, Meghan had joined Harry and Prince Charles and Camilla at a garden party at Buckingham Palace to celebrate the Prince of Wales’s patronages in recognition of his 70th birthday. What had taken place then, which I will cover later in this work, was so shocking as to lead all of us to conclude that Meghan was utterly unsuited to the role of royal duchess, and that it would be a miracle if the marriage worked out. None of us envisaged then that she would find a way of getting Harry to give up being royal to forge a life with her away from his own world. But if what had happened was true - and it was - there was little doubt that she was no more suited to royal life than a fish is to stratospheric flying.

Since then, Meghan and Harry have lurched from one controversy to another. For every foot that they have put right, they have been criticised for putting four feet wrong. This is not a happy state of affairs for anyone, including either of them, but it does make for a rather more interesting narrative than would otherwise have been the case, had they been performing in keeping with expectations.






CHAPTER 2

For a couple whose backgrounds were so radically different in worldly terms, Meghan and Harry were born to parents whose unions shared surprising similarities. Both the Prince and Princess of Wales and Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Markle were mismatched. Once their marriages failed, both sets of parents would try their best to spare their children from suffering from the fallout, in the process exacerbating its effects in unexpected ways. Had Harry and Meghan been born to couples who were more compatible, more evenly matched, and more aware of the need to provide stronger boundaries and less indulgence, it is unlikely that either the Duke or the Duchess of Sussex would ever have had as much in common as they do. For all their differences, they also share such profound similarities that this unique combination has proven to be a potent force in reinforcing the strength of their initial attraction into a bond of such excessive strength that at times it has been more a straightjacket than a comfort.

Rachel Meghan Markle was born three years before Harry on the 4th August 1981. Her father Thomas Wayne Markle Sr. was, by her own account, a successful, 37 year old ‘lighting director for a soap opera’ who had received a Chicago/Midwest Emmy for the television show Made in Chicago in 1975, and would later on be a co-recipient of two Daytime Emmy awards for the popular soap opera General Hospital in 1985 and 2001. He was nominated on several other occasions, and also worked on the long-running series Married…With Children, while ‘my mom was a temp at the studio when they met.’

Doria Loyce Ragland was four weeks shy of her 25th birthday at the time of her daughter’s birth, and had been married for a year and nine months. Meghan likes ‘to think he was drawn to her sweet eyes and her Afro, plus their shared love of antiques. Whatever it was, they married and had me. They moved into a house in The Valley in LA, to a neighbourhood that was leafy and affordable.’ Tom Sr. was earning some $200,000 per annum, so while not wealthy the family was certainly comfortable, and Samantha Markle, Thomas Sr.’s elder daughter, told me that she was sure Doria was a ‘user’ who had married her father for worldly gain.

It might be difficult for people of a certain age to recall how awkward it could be for inter-racial couples four decades ago. The reality is, it took courage for both the Caucasian Tom and the Afro-American Doria to embark upon their union. Admittedly, Hollywood, where they worked, was a lot less colour prejudiced than the hinterlands of Newport, Pennsylvania, and Cleveland, Ohio, where Markle and Ragland came from. But even in California mixed race couples were still more of an exception than the rule. Meghan has subsequently claimed that some of her early memories are coloured by the embarrassment of people mistaking her mother for her nanny, though no one but her seems to have any recollection of such incidents and she has remained remarkably unspecific regarding instances which would have been traumatic, and therefore memorable, had they taken place. As the Markles lived in a white neighbourhood and appear to have been the only mixed race family nearby, the confusion of the other residents as to what role Doria played in the fair-skinned Meghan’s life might well have been a matter of ignorance and unthinking expectation rather than prejudice, if indeed any such happenings took place. According to her father and sister, they have no recollection of any, and Meghan’s remembrances are along the lines of the late Queen’s observation of recollections varying. But, if such scenarios actually occurred, to a proud and strong woman like Doria it must have been humiliating to be mistaken for her daughter’s nanny. Nevertheless, Doria herself has said that she never once discussed colour with Meghan while she was growing up. It was simply a non-issue in the world in which they lived. Meghan has stated that the first and only time she heard the N-word used about her mother was when they were departing from the Hollywood Bowl after her graduation when she was eighteen. Doria, who, according to Meghan, was driving too slowly, was shouted at in that manner by an impatient motorist. Yet even then neither of them discussed the occurrence, according to the tale Meghan tells, leading to the conclusion that they did live in as racially integrated and harmonious a world as both Gigi Perreau, the famous child star who later became her drama teacher, and her own siblings and father, told me they occupied.

Although Meghan was Doria’s first, and would prove to be her only child, Meghan’s father already had a son and daughter from his first marriage. In 1964, at the age of twenty, Tom had married Roslyn Loveless, a nineteen year old secretary he had met at an on-campus party at the University of Chicago. In November of that year, their daughter Yvonne, now Samantha Marie, was born, followed by Thomas Wayne Markle Jr. two years later.

After graduating from college, Tom Sr. worked as a lighting director at WTTW-Channel 11, the primary Public Broadcasting Service in Chicago, Illinois, winning his first Emmy in 1975. At first the marriage was happy, but within a few years Roslyn was claiming that she felt neglected. According to her, Tom spent all hours of the day and night working, while their daughter Samantha has told me that her mother’s interests lay everywhere but with her husband and children, and such negligence as existed could be laid on her doorstep. His aim was to win an Emmy, and while he was bringing in good money, he was accused by his wife of not only neglecting her, but of carousing with other women. Irrespective of who was the bigger carouser, by the early ‘70s the marriage was over, and the couple separated.

Tom lived in Chicago and had the children for weekends, but after he was nominated for his first Emmy he moved to California, settling in Santa Monica. Samantha, who did not get on with her mother, joined him first. Then a traumatised Tom Jr. arrived following an incident when Roslyn’s boyfriend apprehended burglars and was shot in front of mother and son. Tom Jr. promptly fled to the safety of California.

With both children now living with him, Tom moved to a spacious, five bedroomed house on Providencia Street, adjacent to the Woodland Hills Country Club in the San Fernando Valley. Its location made the Markle residence one of the more desirable properties in the area. Even now it is predominantly a white neighbourhood, with some 80% of the population being Caucasian and less than 3.5% Afro-American, but in the 1980s there were even fewer people of colour living there. It was a prosperous area, and has remained so, with fashionable Calabasas to its east. I have been told, ‘If anything, Doria’s special status put her a cut above other people of colour, something she seems to have enjoyed.’ There is also the suspicion that she was ambitious to lighten her line racially, a phenomenon which might seem surprising nowadays, but in the context of the 1980s was far from unique. Nor was this ambition limited to the United States. It was also prevalent in the West Indies, where one often heard dark-skinned people speaking about ‘improving their colour’, not only for themselves by the use of skin bleaching creams such as the then-popular Nadinola, but also through interracial unions which would produce fairer-skinned progeny. Or, to put it in the words of comedian Chris Rock, ‘Meghan won the light-skinned lottery.’

According to the Markles, in the early days of Tom and Doria’s relationship, the couple was happy. She brought a welcome sense of family to the household, unifying them in a way that had not existed before. Doria came from a loving family, who included the Markles in their festive celebrations, though there are now suspicions that she was ‘using the status symbol of a white husband to crow competitively over the rest of her family.’ And later on, these suspicions would increase when both Doria and Meghan, who was welcomed into the Ragland/Johnson family, put more and more distance between themselves and their darker-skinned relations the more successful they became.

Prior to that, there existed a genuine warmth towards Doria, her fair-skinned daughter, white husband, and Caucasian step-children. Tom Jr. was surprised at how ‘warm and inclusive’ Doria’s parents and half-brother Joseph and half-sister Saundra were, and commented that they were ‘the kind of family I had always wanted.’ Even after Doria’s parents divorced and her father married a kindergarten teacher named Ava Burrow, and produced a son named Joffrey Ragland, then divorced, Doria remained close to all of them.

The Raglands were a modestly prosperous but by no means rich family. Doria’s father Alvin owned an antique shop named ‘Twas New, while her mother was a nurse. They would be categorised as petit bourgeois in Europe and middle class in America. Doria herself was something of a hippie, and her warmth and kindness made her even more appealing to the children than she would otherwise have been, had she presented in a more conventional manner.

Shortly after moving into the Providencia Street house, she decided that what the family needed was something they could all love. She therefore took Tom Jr. to an animal shelter, where they chose a beagle/golden retriever mix which he named Bo and which became a much-loved pet.

Like many twenty-five year olds, Doria was not sure exactly what she wanted to do with her life. She had tried her hand at being a make-up artist before Meghan’s birth, but, with a baby and two stepchildren to cater to, as well as running a house which would later be described as ‘cavernous’ and a husband who worked eighty and ninety hour weeks, she found being a housewife less than appealing. She therefore took up yoga with a view to teaching it, and only too soon was farming out babysitting duties to her mother Jeanette and stepson Tom Jr. Her seventeen year old stepdaughter had less interest in babysitting, preferring to be out partying with her friends. There have been reports that Samantha used to refer to Doria as ‘The Maid’, but these are apocryphal as both families remember everyone getting on well, even if, in typical teenage fashion, Samantha was focused more on having a good time with her friends than being up for babysitting duties. Later on, when Doria was absent from family life and Samantha lived downstairs from her father and half-sister, she would shoulder her share of the burden in terms of babysitting and fetching and carrying. In the meantime, theirs was an extremely relaxed household, with pretty much anything going. The children were allowed to come and go as they pleased, to have their friends around, even to smoke pot if they were so inclined, a practice that their step-mother indulged in flagrantly, frequently and persistently, to the extent that the adult Samantha has questioned to me whether her little sister Meghan’s difficulties might not have begun in the womb.

According to both Toms, Tom Sr. was completely besotted with Meghan from the moment of her birth. His every spare moment was spent with her. He was even more in love with her than he was with Doria, and he also gave her more of his time and attention than he had ever given his two elder children. He was also significantly more prosperous than he had been when they were Meghan’s age, which also made a difference.

When Meghan fell out with her family and Samantha publicly stated that she was a social climbing opportunist who would ultimately mistreat the Royal Family the way she had mistreated both sides of her own family, Meghan’s supporters provided the antidote by claiming that Samantha, as a young girl, was jealous of the little princess when she saw the degree of attention she was getting from their father. Contemporaneous accounts by the family do not support any troubling degree of jealousy, and if any existed at all it was well within the bounds of normality. There is also the fact that Samantha, at 16, was an age at which she was spreading her wings, partaking of all the activities normal, attractive teenagers indulge in, including developing her own personal life away from the family unit. All of which suggested that accusations of jealousy were unfounded.

More realistic is the suggestion that Doria used Tom Sr.’s worshipping at the altar of his ‘Flower’, as both parents started calling the baby, as an escape route from the more mundane responsibilities of motherhood and being a wife. Only too soon, the couple was squabbling. Doria voiced resentment at being left alone for most of the time with the baby and her step-children, while Tom worked and worked and worked. Then, when he came home, he made a big deal of the baby, and did not make Doria the centre of attention the way her friends did. Reading between the lines of what the family now says, it seems that Doria’s reaction to Tom Sr.’s love for Meghan was a handy way of having fun with her friends for days on end instead of being tied to the house with a baby. Not that Doria did not love her daughter. But she appears to have used Tom Sr.’s love for Meghan as an excuse to withdraw from him and her maternal duties, blaming him for being not sufficiently attentive to her.

Up to then, theirs had been an extremely relaxed household, but as tensions developed between the workaholic Tom Sr. and the fun-loving Doria, she too emulated the habits of her stepchildren and started to come and go as she pleased, often parking the baby with her mother or with Tom Jr. when he was around.

According to Meghan, when she was two her parents separated. Her mother returned to her grandmother Jeanette’s house, where they lived during the week, while she spent weekends with her father. She is on record stating that harmony reigning supreme, with never a squabble or harsh word between the two of them. This is quite possible, though the family remembers superficial civility rather than real warmth between the couple. There is every indication that Meghan was candy-coating an acrider scenario, and moreover was doing so for good reason. The whispers are that Doria not only realised that she didn’t want to be alone with a husband who was never around and who she claimed took her for granted when he was, but that she actually didn’t want to be with a husband at all. Thereafter, she would pursue a life of such extreme privacy that the question has been asked what, if anything, she has to hide. In choosing to lead her life in such a secretive way, she has been both resolute and independent. The fact is that she did so with the quietude for which she has become known, and ensured that civility reigned between her ex-husband and herself until Meghan and Tom Sr. fell out - since when she has severed all connection with him - confirms that she is ruthlessly decisive and has the ability to achieve what she wants in her own quiet and determined way.

Both sides of Meghan’s family confirm that while she was growing up ‘nothing was too good for her.’ Her father spoiled her from the time she was a baby. Although her mother lay down boundaries, she also spoiled her, as did the extended families. At the age of two, around the time of her parents’ separation, she was enrolled in the Hollywood Little Red School House. This was an exceptional school started by an exceptional woman whose objective was to create exceptional adults. ‘No one envisaged that Meghan would reach the heights she did, or that she would plumb the depths quite so brazenly,’ a former schoolmate of hers said. ‘She is now something of an embarrassment, where previously she was a source of pride.’

Ruth Pease, born Stover, was the only child of deaf parents. As a result, she was teased from early childhood and grew up valuing kindness and diversity as well as education and character. During the Second World War, she ran a nursery school for six children at her house. One charge was a half-Chinese boy whose parents had had difficulty finding a place for him elsewhere. At the time, the US was at war with Japan, and the child, who was often mistaken for Japanese, attracted such prejudice that no one else would take him in. Ruth’s landlord then objected to her running a nursery school from his property, necessitating a move to a house nearby on a quiet, tree-lined street named Highland Avenue. Her husband Robert painted the building red, they expanded to some twenty children, and, to distinguish it from a daycare centre, Pease in 1951 helped to form the Pre-School Association of California. According to her daughter Debbie Wehbe, ‘People started referring to it as ‘the little red schoolhouse.’ So they changed the school’s name and added the storybook bell tower which became a characteristic of the school. Diversity was one of Mrs Pease’s aims, and over the years the school acquired such a good reputation that its alumnae included the children of the 1950s sex symbol Jayne Mansfield, Johnny Depp and Flea, bassist for Red Hot Chili Peppers, as well as diplomats and people from more average backgrounds.

By 1968, new building codes required the tearing down of the old building and the construction of a new one. Meghan arrived in 1983 to a much enlarged and expanding school, whose reputation for excellence and diversity was second to none locally. By no means cheap (from twenty to twenty-five thousand dollars at today’s prices), it was by that time one of the main ‘go to’ schools for the children of the Hollywood elite. Meghan would spend nine years there, flourishing under the ministrations of a progressive but structured regimen based upon the four stages of Cognitive Development formulated by the Swiss psychologist Jean Piaget.

The location of the Hollywood Little Red School House could not have been more convenient for Tom and Doria. He worked at the ABC Studios in nearby Los Feliz, while her workplace, where she was training to be a social worker, was a few minutes away and easily accessible to her new home just south of Hollywood. After school, Doria, always physical, would take Meghan for bike rides, runs, or yoga, and they would end the day with mother and daughter making dinner. Meghan now attributes her love of cooking to this early regimen, so clearly it was a happy activity, even though no one remembers her being the ‘foodie’ that she started claiming to be once she moved to Canada, heard of the well-connected celebrity chef and man-about-town Cory Vitiello, and manipulated the situation in such a way that she seductively enticed him into her web.

In 1992, at the age of eleven, Meghan transferred to Immaculate Heart High School. This again was a school where Hollywood’s elite and aspirational sent their children. Founded in 1906 and located on a beautiful hillside property in Los Feliz, it was and remains a Catholic preparatory school for girls from grades 6 - 12. ‘We celebrate more than a century of nurturing the spiritual, intellectual, social and moral development of students as they distinguish themselves as women of great heart and right conscience,’ the school maintains, and it too was a bastion of elitism intermingling with some children of more ordinary background. Alumnae include Tyra Banks, Lucy Arnaz, Mary Tyler Moore, and Diane Disney, as well as several girls who have gone on to make their names in the entertainment industry.

From now until she went to university, Meghan would live mostly with her father. Indeed, her mother was absent to the extent that the first time the teacher with whom Meghan was most closely involved, her drama teacher Gigi Perreau, met Doria, was at Meghan’s graduation. This protracted absence has led to lurid speculation about where Doria was, and why. There exists a record of one Doria Ragland who was sentenced for fraud in the Riverside County Court, California, Case I.D. MS 79453 DR, as well as one Doria Loyce Ragland with an Offender ID of TS36640720499061181689MS79453D R20001215, but this author does not suggest that these individuals are the same Doria Ragland who is Meghan’s mother, and Thomas Markle Sr. has refrained over the years from violating his ex-wife’s privacy, loyally refusing to discuss Doria’s absence even with his other children.

Meghan has also failed to address the reason for her mother’s absence and why Doria neglected to put in an appearance at her school until her graduation. This has fostered rather than cleared up a mystery, especially as how Meghan has repeatedly reminisced about spending afternoons after school at the studio where her father was working, dressed in her distinctive Catholic school uniform. The most incisive comments she has made about this period have been that, from observing what was going on at the studio, she learnt all about lights and camera angles and the myriad of other techniques that make up the magic that is Hollywood. She has recounted on many an occasion how ‘every day after school for 10 years, I was on the set of Married… with Children, which is a really funny and perverse place for a little girl in a Catholic school uniform to grow up. There were a lot of times my dad would say, ‘Meg, why don’t you go and help with the craft services room over there? This is just a little off-colour for your 11-year-old eyes.”

This timeline is rather more interesting than Meghan intended, for the fact of her father working on that show for ten years does not accord with either the duration of his employment on it or the period of her schooling. Meghan’s well known propensity for exaggeration has not lessened the mystery of where her mother was, and why, and in fact has had the unintended side-effect of furthering rather than lessening suspicions that her mother was away for a decade rather than a shorter period.

To add to the uncertainty, race was developing into an issue for Meghan, though it is obvious from all she and everyone who knew her say that it was a problem she was careful to keep to herself. There is actually some doubt whether the problem existed at all, or whether she fabricated it as a convenient peg to garner the attention and sympathy for which she seems to have developed a profound need the better known she became. There was, for instance, the occasion upon which she was required to fill out a mandatory census questionnaire in her English class. Asked to choose between boxes for white, black, Hispanic or Asian, she was befuddled as to what her answer should be, so asked her teacher which one she should choose. The teacher recommended Caucasian, ‘Because that’s how you look, Meghan,’ Meghan claims she said. But Meghan asserts that she refused to do so, ‘Not as an act of defiance, but rather a symptom of my confusion. I couldn’t bring myself to do that, to picture the pit-in-her-belly sadness my mother would feel if she were to find out. So, I didn’t tick the box. I left my identity blank - a question mark, an absolute incomplete - much like how I felt.’

She claims that later on she spoke to her father, who told her that next time she should simply create her own box and tick that. Yet the picture she painted suggests an altogether more ominous scenario, reminiscent of the Claudette Colbert/Lana Turner film Imitation of Life, for the sad fact of the matter is that most other mixed-race Americans being asked the same question would have unquestioningly answered black. That she did not, indicates that she either had a more nuanced view of the subject than many others did, or then she was eager to distance herself from the African part of her heritage. While in her version of the tale she was not prepared to deny her African antecedents, nor was she prepared to deny her Caucasian, she had nevertheless created a scenario where she was a tremulous, confused creature unsure of what she was or where she fitted in, despite the fact that she was attending a mixed race school where no one else had ever had the dilemma she managed to come up with.

I have been told that both teachers and students simply assumed that Meghan, who was pale-skinned, was white. With the only visible parent being a Caucasian father, and a mother of colour who was never present, her frizzy hair and broad nose were not sufficient to trigger the understanding that she herself might be someone of colour. More than one person who has known her well for a long time has suggested that, if her mother had not been forcibly absent throughout those school years, their suspicion is that Meghan herself discouraged her mother from visiting the school so that she could continue to pass for white.

Meghan herself would confirm, in a roundabout way, that she had indeed been passing for white. According to her, on one occasion a cabal of girls asked her to join a White Girls Only Club. Her response, by her own account, was a neutral and non-explanatory, ‘Are you kidding me?’

She would subsequently state, ‘my mixed race heritage may have created a grey area surrounding my self-identification, keeping me with a foot on both sides of the fence.’ She would claim that she had worked through the conflict ‘to embrace that. To say who I am, to share where I’m from, to voice my pride in being a strong, confident mixed-race woman.’

But before she lay claim to doing so, she had to work her way through the grey to come to the light, if indeed she ever did so. One of the facts to emerge from her Netflix series was the strength of feeling she expressed against the British media for treating her as if she were black, when by her own account no one prior to that had ever viewed her as such. I for one, being Jamaican and therefore well acquainted with the complexes and complexities which people of colour sometimes suffer from, was struck by the degree of distaste she expressed regarding the British press’s recognition of her African roots. It was as if she felt insulted by being categorised as black, despite the fact that most Americans of her background would unthinkingly and gladly describe themselves in such terms.

Yet, Meghan’s attitude is not an entirely unique situation in a world where people of colour are sometimes as prejudiced against others with darker skin tones as the most colour-prejudiced Jim Crow ignoramus from the mid-twentieth century South would have been. I was taken aback by the intensity of her response, and the distaste with which she expressed her surprise, when all the British media were trying to do was express how all-embracing they, and the British people, were with regards to people of colour. Indeed, so eager were the British media to express the racial-inclusivity that has become a characteristic of British society in the last twenty or so years, that when Meghan announced that she was pregnant, the media were systematic in their delight that Britain would finally have an acknowledged prince or princess of colour.

Understanding as I did Meghan’s desire to distinguish herself as ‘other’, I even corrected Piers Morgan when he expressed pleasure on his television show that finally Britain would have a black prince or princess born into the Royal Family. I pointed out that a baby who was no more than one eighth black could hardly be categorised as black, for even the Nuremberg Race Laws stopped categorisations at three quarters, and only the repellent Jim Crow Laws, the ultimate in racism, abided by the one-drop rule. And they no longer applied.

This conflict regarding her racial identity would ultimately not only strengthen, possibly even harden, Meghan, but would also add nuances that, if her subsequent conduct is anything to go by, remained an issue, albeit one which she used only as and when it served her purposes. At all other times, it remained as insignificant a feature of her life as it ought to have been. This suggests that such conflict as she claims to have possessed was more opportunistic convenience than actual fact, and one which she could utilise as and when it suited her.

Amongst the many purposes it served was to give her a claim to possessing empathy for those who also did not fit easily into one of life’s many boxes. While young, she seems to have been more sentient than she subsequently became as an adult. According to her school friend Elizabeth McCoy, ‘If someone was being treated unfairly, she stuck up for them. She was a genuinely decent human being who looked out for people who needed help. She gave a damn about people other than herself.’ Another interpretation of that trait is that she relished a fight, even at a young age. Shades of Baron von Munchausen and Don Quixote, she happily waded into matters that were none of her business, all the better with which to display how wonderful and dominant she was.

Even then, Meghan was fearless and prepared to cross boundaries where others feared to tread. Her former homeroom advisor, Christine Knudsen, thought, ‘She’d take conversations to a deeper level. She had a lot of depth, probably because of her own experiences and hard knocks growing up,’ referring to her parents’ divorce, though equally this could have applied to her attitude regarding her racial identity and the conflicts she had about it.

Tellingly, Knudsen, like everyone else, did not remember race being an issue at all at school. It was ‘not a big deal simply because our school is so diverse. There’s no looking down on someone because she comes from something different than you do.’ This observation was borne out for me by Gigi Perreau, her drama teacher, when we spoke. A recent breakdown of the diversity of the students shows that 35% were white, 20% Latina, 17% multiracial, 17% Asian or Pacific Islander, 5% black and 6% preferred not to state. The demographics were similar the year Meghan graduated, the main difference being that there were slightly more black students. These figures mean that Meghan was by no means the only bi-racial student, and indeed, non-Caucasians being a two-thirds majority, she was in the majority rather than the minority, save as her appearance went.

The pattern that emerges is that the pressure Meghan subsequently claimed she was under regarding her race was to a large extent internal rather than external. She was being affected by the conflicts many other people of colour who inadvertently ‘pass’ for white have suffered throughout the ages. The singer Marsha Hunt once described her blue-eyed, blonde-haired grandmother of colour, by this time driven insane, staring at herself in the mirror, befuddled as to how she could have been categorised as black when she looked white. And Meghan would not only go to great lengths to eradicate all visible evidence of her African heritage, but actually passed as white for much of her life, even claiming Maltese ancestry and getting a free trip there so that she could investigate her non-existent heritage.

Meghan was an intelligent child and would grow into an intelligent, albeit one-dimensional, adult. She claims to have witnessed from early childhood how ‘my mom, caramel in complexion with her light-skinned baby in tow, (was) being asked where my mother was since they assumed she was the nanny.’ One would have to be lacking in empathy to fail to see how such experiences might have coloured the feelings of both mother and daughter, if indeed such events actually occurred. Both Meghan and Doria would have had to be inhuman not to be embarrassed, annoyed, humiliated, aware of the cultural disparity between blacks and whites, and subject to a host of conflicting feelings, few of which would have been comfortable to experience. No child likes being different. No child wants to stand out from the crowd. No child wants to know that people think its mother is its servant. Yet the fact that neither Meghan’s father, nor her siblings, nor any of her friends or school teachers, remembers even one racist event occurring, taken in conjunction with Doria and Meghan’s claim that there was only one occasion upon which Doria was racially profiled (when Meghan was 18), as well as their admission that they never once had a conversation about race, suggests that there was an absence of racism rather than a presence of it. Also, as stated previously, Gigi Perreau told me that her mother attended her school only once in all the years she taught her, namely at her graduation. This has led someone from Meghan’s past to suggest that Meghan didn’t want her mother visible at the school, for she enjoyed being regarded as white, and her visibly Afro-American mother would have blown that image out of the water. By the time of her graduation it no longer mattered, as those who knew it was her mother would be few and far between and onlookers might even have thought that Doria was her nanny - if they gave any thought whatsoever to her presence. Whatever the motivation, the fact that her mother was never there is noteworthy. Since no one has any memory of Meghan ever volunteering information on the subject of her race, the reasonable conclusion to arrive at is Meghan was by omission hiding her racial identity, even if she was not actively concealing it.

Because the Immaculate Heart was a Catholic school, and Catholicism preaches that there are both sins of commission and omission, Meghan will have been aware that to omit to assert her identity was tantamount to a sin of omission. This awareness can have done nothing to reduce the pressure that she felt as she was mistaken for white. While there is no proof that she actively denied her heritage at this juncture, and was indeed fond of her mother and her mother’s family, she also did not assert it actively. Such a dilemma would have been difficult for any child to endure. It must have driven her back into herself, and by her own account she was a part of no special group and would volunteer for activities to avoid having to eat lunch alone. Even that claim, though, is open to question. Her best friend from the age of two and throughout her school years was Ninaki ‘Nikki’ Priddy. While Meghan’s claims to isolation would lead one to conclude that Nikki did not exist, she did. Very much so. They went to the same school. They stayed over at each other’s houses. They went on trips together. They were ‘always together’, according to people who knew them at that time. Are we to accept that she and Nikki never had lunch together, despite the fact that everyone at the school remembers that Meghan was well-liked by all and was friendly with many aside from Nikki? How credible is the pityfest she has recently served up, that she had no actual circle of friends and felt isolated for all her superficial popularity, and was therefore already functioning as a solitary unit, or, as her detractors might say, a lone wolf? As she put it, ‘My high school had cliques: the black girls and white girls, the Filipino and the Latina girls. Being bi-racial, I felt somewhere in between. So every day during lunch, I busied myself with meetings - French club, student body, whatever one could possibly do between noon and 1pm - I was there. Not so that I was more involved, but so that I wouldn’t have to eat alone.’ As the largest percentage of the pupils at the school was mixed race, Meghan’s claims to finding herself marooned in a unique category fall away once that telling fact is brought into play.

What also destroys her pitiable narrative is when one asks: And where was Nikki Priddy in all of this? Excised by Meghan from the narrative once she acquired what she erroneously characterised as a ‘starring’ role in Suits, Nikki Priddy was nevertheless an ever-present presence by her side each and every day as they attended school together and partook of all the activities of which children engage in together for the entire duration of Meghan’s school years.

The dichotomy between what Meghan remembers and what others remember is noteworthy, if only because it is revealing of the innermost conflicts of her psyche. Obviously she and her best friend Nikki Priddy would have lunch together much of the time, so Meghan’s subsequent statement of having to volunteer to avoid lunching alone in racist isolation betrays more about her inner conflicts and embarrassments, or her cynical fabrication of them in adulthood to garner sympathy for herself, than it does about the reality of what was taking place at the predominantly mixed race school where the only racially fixated person was, by her own account, the young Meghan Markle.

According to her subsequent, heroic narrative, rather than feeling sorry for herself, or becoming embittered by her circumstances, she was already positive and self-confident enough to find resourceful solutions which kept her occupied and gained her the approbation of her teachers. The message one receives is that this early solution to the problem of isolation helped her develop a self-reliance and independence that not only provided her with positive feedback, but also hid her aloneness behind a facade of affability.

These were traits that would serve Meghan well in adulthood. Outstanding success in adulthood might initially be a question of luck, but maintaining it and capitalising upon it to the extent that she did as she scaled the heights from bit part actress to royal duchess, are a matter of grit, endurance, determination, and discipline. These are all qualities that are enhanced when adults have surmounted early hardship or deprivation. Meghan’s revelations of her early struggles reveal that she did indeed suffer from a sense of alienation as a result of her bi-racialism, or then, she suffered from the shame she felt as she denied a part of her identity and identified as white, which, on the surface at the time, might have seemed the more desirable choice.

Without being cynical, the parallels with the movie Imitation of Life are so numerous that one has to wonder if this child of Hollywood watched,  absorbed, identified with, and covered up for the similarities between herself and the Susan Kohner character.

Be that as it may, Meghan’s identity struggles were not obvious to anyone when she was growing up, though her determination already was. According to Maria Pollia, who taught her Theology in her junior year, she was ‘a focused young woman who challenged herself to reflect on the toughest texts.’ She did not shy away from challenges, but embraced them, and sometimes even sought them out. While that might have seemed noble as a teenager, the fact that she has actively sought out unnecessary battlefields in adult life leads one to conclude that her propensity for challenges might not have been the virtue Maria Pollia thought it was when she sent Meghan to the skid row kitchen, where she herself worked, as a part of the school programme for volunteering that is a characteristic of Catholic as well as many private schools, as they attempt to inculcate in their students the virtues of gratitude for privilege and the necessity to give back to society. For the undoubted fact is that the young Meghan Markle was, despite her present protestations to the contrary, a privileged young woman in a very privileged environment, and the school’s objective was to leaven the loaf so that she would develop an appreciation of that fact through comparison with those less fortunate than herself. The idea of her usurping the role of underprivileged underdog, the way she has done since marrying Harry, in order to present herself in heroic terms, would have been antithetical to the precepts by which the Catholic school system governed itself, if only because it showed a gross lack of gratitude to the Good Lord for the blessings with which He had showered her.

In a further display of her tendency to turn blessings into curses and privileges into deprivations, Meghan would later attribute her charitable acts not to the school, which had volunteering as a part of its curriculum, but to ‘(m)y parents (who) came from little, so they made a choice to give a lot: buying turkeys for homeless shelters at Thanksgiving, delivering meals to people in hospices, giving spare change to those asking for it.’ In doing so she also created yet another of the many links she has found between herself and Diana, Princess of Wales, who also claimed that her original inspiration for her charity work was her parents. Notwithstanding the fact that it was really through their schools that both women converted an incidental parental introduction into an established practice, this portrait of her caring, kind-hearted parents presents us with a real contradiction. If her father was as wonderful as she says he was while she was growing up, does he deserve the cold and callous treatment she has doled out to him since her marriage?

Be that as it may, once the schoolgirl Meghan volunteered, she spent a year and a half on skid row, and Maria Pollia said, ‘The people that I knew at the kitchen would tell me what a natural she was. Skid row is a very scary place. Once she got over that and she was talking to people, she knew everybody’s names.’ One of her childhood observers told me, ‘Meg always loved being the centre of attention. As long as she had an audience, she would play to the gallery. Nothing was too much trouble as long as she was getting the attention she craved, even then.’

For all the care she showed to strangers, Meghan had trouble behaving similarly towards her father. Nikki Priddy remembered that ‘as Meg got older she had to parent Tom a little more and she couldn’t do that.’ Despite the diplomatic tightrope she had to walk, as she carried messages back and forth between her civil parents, Meghan had always been the one both parents had taken care of, and she had no intention of having those roles reversed. Her refusal to do for her father what she was doing for strangers gives an invaluable insight into her character. Soup kitchens are very much one thing or another. There are no shades of grey. You are either poor and needy or you are helping the poor and needy. The lines of demarcation could not be clearer. Within those parameters, the lonely, sensitive, giving, loving, and emotionally needy have scope to achieve all the human connectedness they yearn for, while being bountiful to strangers. Because the contact between giver and recipient is essentially impersonal in terms of identity while being intensely personal in the moment, the atmosphere is often far more highly charged than it would be in more ordinary circumstances. This is gratifying emotionally for both the giver and recipient, and explains why so many people who feel alienated work with the less fortunate. There is little doubt that this dynamic was at play with Meghan, as was her desire for attention. Thereafter, a girl whose identity had caused her both pain and confusion, and most likely embarrassment and humiliation as well, was motivated to seek out those who might seem underprivileged but were, to her, sources of warmth, meaning and human connectedness, without the risks and pitfalls involved with companionship with her peers. Giving to strangers was one thing. Giving to loved ones who also needed succour was another.

Pollia remembered how Meghan took to working on skid row with such alacrity that she would update her on the specifics of what Betty was up to and whether Ralph still had his dog or Fred his fish. She had discovered a great way to rise above the barriers of isolation in which the grey areas of her racial identity had bogged her down, while satisfying her need for attention and approbation. Meanwhile, Meghan was learning one of life’s most profound lessons: goodness really can be its own reward. Its benefits can be both short and long term, but to achieve them you have to be proactive.

Proactive she certainly was. By this time, Meghan was well on the road to becoming the activist she would later grow into. Although she is on record as crediting Pollia with having provided her with encouragement and inspiration, the most cursory of examinations reveals that her father played at least as fundamental a role and most likely, a more pivotal one. He instilled the belief in her that she could achieve anything she wanted as long as she strove for it, as she herself has admitted. Intensely hard-working, he encouraged her to have a voice, and to use it. Disparate members of her family attribute the remarkable degree of self-confidence she possesses, and possessed from her youth, to the encouragement her father gave her to cultivate her judgement, trust it, and act upon it. There is, for instance, the matter of the Ivory dishwashing liquid advertisement, which has assumed almost mythical status since Meghan became a successful actress and then an even more renowned duchess.

Although Nikki was careful not to unmask Doria, Samatha told me that Meghan’s mother was a pothead and crackhead who smoked dope openly in front of all of them and the neighbours as well, embarrassing the family by puffing on reefers in the garden. She also openly availed herself of the benefits of white powder, and Samantha has expressed the view, in the light of Meghan’s subsequent conduct, whether Doria’s love of mood altering substances might well have affected Meghan in the womb, for Samantha remembers Doria partaking during her pregnancy and dismissing all concerns out of hand. Certainly Meghan displays, going off her conduct, many of the characteristics of foetuses who were affected in the womb by substances.

Despite her fun-loving side, Doria had firm boundaries and trained Meghan to be well ordered domestically. ‘Tom allowed her more space. He allowed us to get away with things. He provided a less strict household,’ Nikki said. But Meghan was the star to both her parents. ‘In a way, she was nurtured on a stage. She knew no other life. Tom was a great coach in that respect. He’d take photos of her on stage right from a young age.’ The result was that ‘Meg always wanted to be famous. She just loved to be the centre of attention. We used to imagine her receiving an Oscar. She used to practise announcing herself,’ Nikki remembered.’

Although the Oscar dream has so far failed to materialise as a reality, since her advent into, then departure from, the Royal Family, Meghan’s PRs have engineered a whole series of awards for her to receive as substitutes for the elusive Oscar. While accepting these awards, she has replicated the acceptance speeches she practised all those years ago with Nikki, as she gives full rein to the gracious humility which doesn’t quite conceal a monumental ego that outstrips all but the most rank Hollywood egotists.

Two of the representative events were the notorious Robert Fitzgerald Kennedy Ripple of Hope Award which Meghan received along with Harry in December 2022 from Kerry Kennedy for their ‘heroic’ fight against ‘structural racism’ within the Royal Family. The fact that Harry then denied within a matter of days to Tom Bradby, in a television interview beamed worldwide, that he and Meghan had ever been subject to racial prejudice from his family, created an anomaly which neither he and Meghan nor Kerry Kennedy seemed bothered by, leading dispassionate observers to note that the only remaining rationale for having received the award was undeserved publicity for both giver and recipients. This was closely followed by another farce, the Ms Magazine’s Women of Vision Award which Meghan received from Gloria Steinem in May 2023 for her contributions to the feminist cause. This struck even disinterested observers as something of a contradiction, for all Meghan’s accomplishments, limited as they have been, have somehow been achieved using the rungs of men’s ladders. The fact that this event ended with Meghan overshadowing it with her fanciful claims that she and Harry had been chased for two hours in a catastrophic, near-death experience by paparazzi through the streets surrounding Times Square at the impossible speed of eighty miles an hour, when any fool knows that you are fortunate indeed if traffic in such parts of Manhattan limps along at even ten miles an hour, did much to damage her credibility and expose the extent to which these award ceremonies are publicity-creating platforms for rampant egotists to garner attention they would otherwise never receive.

Even at the tender age when these dreams began, Meghan displayed character traits that were exceptional, even if, with hindsight, some of them seem less than desirable. ‘I admired the skilful way she handled her parents. She’d have to relay messages. It was literally stuff like ‘Tell your mother,’ or ‘Tell your father.’ Controlling her emotions is something she learnt back then. For as long as I knew Meghan, her parents weren’t together. It could be hard for her. Sometimes she felt she had to pick sides. She was always trying to make sure each of them was happy.’ The result was that she has always been ‘very poised, a natural mediator. She was tough, too. If you rubbed her up the wrong way, she’d make it known with the silent treatment.’ Whenever there was a problem, Nikki found, ‘I’d always be the first to apologise. I just wanted to be besties again. She was stubborn. She digs her heels in the ground.’

So close were the girls that Meghan often slept over at the Priddys’ house in North Hollywood. She often swam in their pool. When the girls were fifteen, Dalton and Maria Priddy invited Meghan to join the family, which included Nikki’s younger sister Michelle, on a tour of Europe for which her father Thomas Sr. gladly stumped up Meghan’s share. Nikki was so smitten by Paris that she ended up spending the following summer at the Sorbonne, but Meghan was more turned on by London. They stayed at a hotel near Kensington Palace and of course went to Buckingham Palace, where the duo was photographed sitting on the railings opposite Queen Victoria’s statue with the palace in the background. Later on, when Meghan seemed to be claiming absolute ignorance of the Royal Family and anything to do with it, this photograph would come back to haunt her.

Nikki confirmed that ‘the Royal Family was something that Meghan found fascinating. She had one of Princess Diana’s books on her bookshelf.’ She watched Diana’s funeral, was moved to tears as were her friends, and, so obsessed did she become that she and another friend, Suzy Ardakani, got ahold of old videos of Diana’s 1981 wedding to Prince Charles and decided to emulate her humanitarian example by collecting clothes and toys to be distributed amongst less privileged children. Meghan seemed attracted not only by Diana’s style and glamour but by her humanitarian tendencies. She had found her role model and ‘used to love The Princess Diaries - films about a commoner who becomes part of a Royal Family. She was very taken with that idea. She wants to be Princess Diana 2.0,’ Nikki Priddy said.

Although Meghan would fail miserably in realising that ambition, she succeeded brilliantly in having her husband, who, by his own admission has few early memories of his mother, publicly make the comparison between his mother and his wife in the Netflix reality show and elsewhere. ‘This must have been very satisfying for Meg,’ one of her childhood associates told me.

Of course, Meghan had no idea what the future held for her, when she and Nikki Priddy were posing outside Buckingham Palace. Nor did she know that she would one day have an office in Buckingham Palace, or that she would chafe against palace restrictions in much the same way the mother-in-law she would never meet had chafed against hers. At the time, though, Meghan’s ambitions were more perfunctory. Her most immediate one was to go to Northwestern University. And to escape from her father, who now needed more reciprocity than she was willing to provide, for, as someone who has known Meghan well throughout her life says, ‘Meg is a taker, not a giver. She only gives if she thinks it’s in her interest (to do so).’

By 1990, Tom Sr. was earning such good money that he had the means to indulge his children even more than he had previously done. All members of the Markle family confirm that Tom was always exceedingly generous. Tom Jr. was given the funds to start up a flower shop and Samantha was bought a second car to replace the first gift, which she had written off, while Meghan’s school fees, always expensive, were covered and she was able to enjoy all the extras that the daughter of a good earner could.

During her years at Immaculate Heart, Meghan threw herself into dramatics more than anything else. Her ambition, as Nikki has stated and her father has borne out to me, was to be a star. This was an ambition he shared with her and fostered. Known at the school as an Emmy award-winning lighting director who was nominated virtually every year, the dramatics department was only too pleased when Meghan delivered him up as the technical director of every production in which she was involved. One cannot help thinking that even at that early age Meghan was learning the benefits of one hand washing the other, of how much of an advantage it was when you had something else aside from mere talent to help you achieve your ambitions. And of how those ambitions could be further enhanced by the skill of knowledgeable people such as her father.

While Thomas Markle Sr.’s technical abilities undoubtedly improved the quality of each production in which Meghan appeared, Gigi Perreau confirmed to me that he also used each opportunity to further enhance his daughter’s knowledge of what would and would not work on stage. He taught her all about finding the light, or the importance of light and shade, of where to stand on stage, even what angle to deploy for maximum effect. He would also take an endless stream of photographs of her, so that she could see for herself what he meant when he told her to do this and not do that. This technical knowledge was invaluable, for he was teaching her at the cradle what most actors only learnt when they were approaching the grave after a lifetime of trial and error.

Gigi Perreau taught acting at her former alma mater as well as helped with the staging of plays and musicals. She remembered that she never had a problem with Meghan, who was ‘spot on, learnt her lines’ and was ‘very dedicated, very focused.’ Because of Meghan’s dedication, she ‘knew she would be something special.’ She also thought Thomas Sr. was ‘a wonderful man. Very kind and generous. He had no desire to be centre-stage. He was always very self-effacing and tremendously helpful. I cannot sing his praises highly enough. He made such a difference to the quality of our productions. Not only the ones his daughter was in either.’

Meghan, however, wanted to be a star both on stage and off. By the time she was a teenager, she had had enough attention from boys to know that they found her attractive and that she liked them as well. Thereafter, she would be the female lead in many a real-life romance, starting out simply enough with the boys from the masculine counterpart of her school, St. Francis High School in nearby La Canada Flintridge. Founded by the Capuchin Friars of the Western American Province of Our Lady of Angels in 1946 on lands bought from the Flintridge Country Club, its students interacted with the Immaculate Heart girls on the basis of equality. Like most institutions whose ambition was to turn out a superior form of human being, both schools were eager to restrict the activities of their students so that they focused on what was desirable and life-enhancing, rather than opening them up to undesirable influences. Chief amongst these restrictions was fraternisation with anyone who was not a peer. It was an accepted feature of both schools that their students could mix with each other, but that they should exercise caution with outsiders. There was something old-fashioned about their desire to protect the students against undesirable influences. While this played well in a society like America, where there is frank acknowledgement of the desirability of people of status sticking together as they assist one another on the path to greater success, in Europe such attitudes were already viewed as not only dangerously old-fashioned and damagingly restrictive, but as snobbish and elitist. It really was a case of a new society keeping up the lines of demarcation while an older society was intent on bringing them down, at least enough for there to be greater mobility between the classes. This difference in cultural attitudes would prove to have a defining effect upon Meghan and Harry’s relationships, not only with each other, but also with everyone else. My own observation is that each of them has brought out the most elitist tendencies in the other. No amount of rhetoric can conceal what is an almost odiously underlying elitism wrapped up in a misleading package of equity.

The young Meghan availed herself of a series of willing beaux from St. Francis, and at the age of sixteen narrowed them down to Luis Segura, her first serious boyfriend. A Latino who had a reputation as a natty dresser, they were together for two years, not that that stopped her from honing her seductive skills on other boys. The year after she began her relationship with Luis, she sailed up to a sixteen year old Iranian hunk, rubbed noses with him, and told him in Farsi, ‘You’re beautiful’, and when he asked her how she knew the language, she informed him she’d learnt it especially for him. She then flounced away, having captivated him in the most memorable way, even though she thereafter displayed no interest in him. ‘Meghan’s always liked captivating men. Even when she doesn’t want them. It’s like collecting scalps,’ a friend said.

With ploys like these, it is no surprise that Meghan developed quite the reputation for being provocatively enticing, ‘and was proud of it. She loved displaying her power over the boys: and she did have power over them. She was frank about her desire to be recognised as irresistible. Looking back on it, she was outrageous, not that it seemed so at the time. But with hindsight, it was outrageous. She was a brazen seductress, and what made her get away with it was a) no one had come across someone who was so flagrant, and b) by being so open about it, no one realised that she was a predator practising her hunting skills in plain sight.’

Despite her flirtatious side, she was careful to remain friends with everyone, boys and girls alike, and that included the whole Segura family. They encouraged her to put herself forward as St. Francis’s Homecoming Queen. Homecoming Queens were big deals in high schools, and she went all out to win, writing an essay on her work at the Hippie Kitchen and charming as many people as possible to vote for her. This early display of determination was not viewed as ominous but as admirable tenacity, especially as she was always careful to remain as positive as possible. Only later, once she was a royal duchess and her ruthless streak had become apparent, would people from her youth make the link between the young Meghan’s charming unstoppability once she had set her mind to a task and the cold-blooded tenacity that lay beneath it and allowed her to pull every trick in the book to achieve her ends. Unsurprisingly, the girl who set about seductively captivating boys while deploying girly-girliness on the girls won the crown as Homecoming Queen. ‘And did she exult in her victory, albeit in the most charming way,’ a schoolmate said. Bedecked in a pale blue strapless satin gown and tiara, Queen Meghan was accompanied by a phalanx of courtiers to the ball by Luis’s younger brother Danny, dapper in a tuxedo with a wing-collared shirt and a ready-made black bowtie. Quite how this reconciles with her later claims to isolation due to being a racial misfit is open to question, for one of the fundamental requirements of Homecoming Queens is their popularity, and that contradicts her subsequent claims of not fitting in anywhere.

Rather more frankly than the ‘victim’ she would now like her gullible followers to believe she was, the teenaged Meghan took her success in her stride. In fact, she treated it as her due. Some girls might have allowed themselves to develop airs and graces, but she had a facade that worked for her and she clung to it, and would continue to do so until she had bagged Harry, at which point she jettisoned the sweet, charming, accessible veneer of a down-to-earth and reachable girl who was fun to be with and nice to all. According to friends, it was almost as if she was using this success as practice for what was to come, as if her victory as Homecoming Queen was no big deal, because it was really what she deserved and was entitled to. She intended to be a great star, and this was but the first taste and therefore of no real significance.

In the 1997 programme notes for Stephen Sondheim’s musical Into the Woods, in which Meghan played Little Red Riding Hood, she stated that she wanted to attend Northwestern University outside Chicago as it would be a first step on her journey to Broadway. In her final yearbook, she went a step further and described herself as ‘classy’, a word which would remain a firm favourite of hers, and whose meaning was significant to her in practical as well as philosophical terms. To underscore her ambition and self-belief, she illustrated her photograph with a quote from Eleanor Roosevelt: ‘A women is like a teabag – you can’t tell how strong she is until you put her in hot water.’

Meghan was setting herself up as a woman of strength.. However, someone who has known her all her life told me, ‘Meg made no distinction then, and has made none now, between strength and hardness, with callousness thrown in for good measure and excused on the grounds that those who oppose her victimise her and therefore deserve her wrath. And, as all the world now knows, no one is fuller of wrath than the thwarted Meg.’

No one, however, thought Meghan immodest or pretentious while she was at school, nor did anyone, with the possible exception of Nikki Priddy and her sister Samantha, pick up the steely coldness that lay beneath the surface. As far as onlookers were concerned, Meghan was a jewel in search of the right setting so that she could shine even more brightly than she was shining at that moment. She and her father had done, and would continue to do, whatever it took to enhance her prospects, from having expensive orthodonture so that she would have a perfect smile, to having the bulbous tip of her nose refined via plastic surgery. This was a fairly common procedure amongst aspiring actresses in Hollywood. Even the fabled beauty Elizabeth Taylor had done it in her teenage. It was a simple procedure. Cartilage was removed so that the tip of the nose was sharper than nature had intended. In Meghan’s case the procedure would become more noticeable with the passage of time, as the cartilage between the tip and the bone drooped, giving her nose a ski jump effect which, ironically, Harry had naturally.

When Meghan graduated from Immaculate Heart in June 1999, her academic and personal gifts were apparent for all to note at the Hollywood Bowl, where the ceremony was held. As well as her graduation certificate, she was presented with the Notre Dame Club of Los Angeles Achievement Award, the Bank of America Fine Arts Award, a commendation in the National Achievement Scholarship Program, and an award for mentoring younger students. She also now claims that as she and her mother were departing the venue, her mother received the racist injunction which was the one and only time such an eventuality occurred. According to her, neither of them spoke about it on the way home, though of course, now that she is famous and pushing a racial agenda, what was not worthy of discussion between them then is worthy of discussion with the world now.

Although Meghan is said to have won three scholarships and could have entered several colleges either on a scholarship or as a paying student, the thought never entered her head that she should go anywhere but where she wanted. She had been brought up by her parents to have her desires fulfilled, and what she wanted was to attend Northwestern University.

This institution was and remains one of the most prestigious private research colleges in the United States. Fees were over $50,000 in today’s prices. It is ranked 9th amongst the American universities and has the 10th largest university endowment in the country, valued at $11.08 billion. Based at Evanston, Illinois, its main campus covers some 240 acres, while its secondary campus in Chicago covers 25 acres. There is a third campus in Doha, Qatar. The university’s former and present faculty and alumni include 19 Nobel Prize laureates, 38 Pulitzer Prize winners, 16 Rhodes Scholars, 6 MacArthur Genius Fellows, 65 American Academy of Arts and Sciences Members, 2 Supreme Court Justices, and its School of Communication is a leading producer of Academy Award, Emmy Award and Tony Award directors, playwrights, writers, actors, and actresses. Tom was still a highly successful lighting director, and he took out bank loans and put in the extra hours necessary to raise the money needed to send his treasured Flower to the university which would be but a stepping stone on her journey to ever increasing success.

Considering Meghan’s stated purpose in attending Northwestern was a first step on her journey to becoming a Broadway star, the fact that she chose to major in English rather than acting suggests that she was either not quite as confident as she seemed to be, or that she was so confident that she didn’t feel the need to specialise in her chosen field.

Leaving the protection of home is challenging for any youngster, but Meghan had both greater advantages and disadvantages than most of her peers. Being a child of Hollywood, she was far more sophisticated than her fellow students in Middle America. She dressed better, had more style, knew how to present herself more effectively than they did, and had more confidence than most of them. She made friends with both boys and girls as soon as she burst upon the Evanston campus. She had pared down her look to what she regarded as monochromatic chic. She wore much more make-up than she had been allowed to in California, and even took to highlighting her hair, which was straightened as she presented a Caucasian presence to the world. Always deliberate, measured and calculating in the most positive sense of the word, she also watched and waited before deciding which sorority to join. Once she made up her mind, she went straight for her target, turning on the power of her personality in an irresistible onslaught, and not surprisingly got initiated into the white, elitist Kappa Kappa Gamma with its clutch of intelligent and hot girls. ‘The thing we all have in common,’ according to fellow member Melania Hidalgo, ‘is that we’re all driven, intelligent and ambitious.’ They were also avid party girls, hitting the bottle more than their books, networking in the belief that who you met might well prove more useful in the future than what you knew. So successfully did Meghan fit in, that she would ultimately be elected to chair recruitment for the sorority. “Meg is unbelievably charming and seductive when she wants to be. She has the ability to befriend girls as well as guys. As long as she feels you can be useful to her, she’ll turn on the charm tap and bathe you in how wonderful she finds you. It works every time. It’s only when she’s moved on that you realise it was all an act,’ says someone who has known her for decades.

As Meghan tells it, she had one disadvantage that most of her sisters did not. Northwestern was primarily Caucasian. Most of the students came from white environments. They were not used to inter-racial interaction, and, by her own account, she found some of their reactions stifling. She recounted to Elle Magazine how she had to navigate ‘closed-mindedness to the tune of a dorm mate I met my first week at university who asked if my parents were still together. ‘You said your mom is black and your father is white, right?’ she said. I smiled meekly, waiting for what could possibly come out of her pursed lips next. ‘And they’re divorced? I nodded. ‘Oh, well that makes sense.’ To this day, I don’t fully understand what she meant by that, but I understood the implication. And I drew back: I was scared to open this Pandora’s box of discrimination, so I sat stifled, swallowing my voice.’

Someone who knows Meghan well from childhood warns against taking these divining moments too literally. Meghan has always had a propensity to embellish, to create dramatic situations out of the most anodyne events, and even to make up incidents which highlight a point she wishes to make but which never actually happened. ‘The way to tell is how neatly they fit the story. Meghan’s inventions are too tailor-made to be reliable. People just don’t act the way she says. Once you know her, you can tell which stories are Meghan and which really happened.’

What did indubitably happen was that Meghan’s sensitivity regarding her race followed her from inclusive California to exclusive Illinois. Once more, however, no one noticed how affected she was by it. Since there are no contemporaneous accounts of Meghan experiencing any difficulties, one cannot entirely discount the possibility that she really had no racial issues at the time, and that such issues as she has come up with later on have been convenient fabrications to advance her narrative, enhance her rhetoric, make her into a victim she never was, and give her the patina of heroism to which she is not entitled. Indeed, contemporaries of hers have stated that they had no idea she was mixed race. This has the ring of truth, for Meghan would later claim to have Italian and even Maltese ancestry, presumably to explain away those aspects of her appearance that did not accord with the Anglo-Saxon side of her heritage.

Also, Meghan’s roommates are a matter of record. She has very specifically stated that this exchange took place within a week of her arrival at the university. However, there is no evidence of Meghan requesting a change of room, or of having complained about or having had a problem with a roommate. Also, the phraseology of the persecutor’s comments is pure Meghan, down to the characteristic deployment of the inevitable word ‘right’ at the end of practically every utterance out of her mouth. Recollections may indeed vary, as the late Queen observed, and pigs certainly fly when such a victimising scenario is examined and found as incredible as this one.

Despite her claimed torment within the first week of her time at Northwestern, as her freshman year got underway, Meghan heroically managed to surmount the underlying racism of the roommate no one can identify as she partied up a storm. In refutation of her later claims to racist profiling, she was popular with the girls as well as the boys, and got herself one of the hottest boyfriends on campus when she paired up with a white, 6’5” basketball player from Lakewood, Ohio named Steve Lepore. He was on the basketball team in his sophomore year, and would prove to be as disciplined and focused as she was. He was more interested in fitness than partying, intending to qualify as a pro, and made all the necessary sacrifices, such as foregoing female companionship the night before a game, in keeping with standard practice amongst basketball, baseball, football, and hockey players. At the end of that academic year, he transferred to Wake Forest University in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, where he became a stand out player. At the time of writing, he is an assistant coach on Eastern Kentucky University’s male basketball player, and, with his wife Carrie, is a proud parent to a daughter, Giuliana Rudi.

Patently, the relationship was not serious enough for Meghan to follow him, and she lost no time in replacing him in her affections, though for the remainder of her time at Northwestern she was never again one half of such a dynamic duo.

This had no perceptible effect upon the pleasure Meghan was having at college. She developed three friendships which went some way towards replacing the gap left when geography separated her from Nikki Priddy. Although the childhood friends kept in touch, Meghan now found a substitute of sorts in Lindsay Jill Roth, the attractive blonde daughter of Jewish lawyers from the prosperous Long Island village of Lattingtown within the town of Oyster Bay in Nassau County, New York. With a population of less than two thousand, of whom 94% were white, it had no real parallels with Woodland Hills save for both areas being predominantly white and both having median incomes above the regional averages, with Woodland Hills being a bit less than $100,000 per annum while Lattingtown was half again as much. The two girls now became fast friends after meeting in a Toni Morrison Literature class in their first year at Northwestern. They drank together, partied together, studied together, and later on when they left college they kept in touch as Lindsay became a producer for Larry King Now, The Real Girl’s Kitchen, and Queen Boss, as well as publishing What Pretty Girls Are Made Of in 2015. Meanwhile, Meghan struggled until she got the role of Rachel Zane in Suits.

When Lindsay married an Englishman named Gavin Jordan in 2016, Meghan was her Matron of Honour. This is revealing, for when Meghan married Trevor Engelson in 2011, she chose Nikki Priddy to be her Maid of Honour. Despite this, the bond between Meghan and Roth was strong. ‘We’re the kind of friends,’ she said, ‘who can be 3,000 miles away and still be talking about or thinking the same thing, and even texting each other the same thing at the same time miles away. I don’t know many people who are as generous and supportive as Meg is. I think people assume that when someone gains notoriety that they change. But she’s still the same girl I met years ago, with the same values and priorities. She’s selfless, and that’s just a part of who she is and who she was raised to be. There’s a motto that Meg and I have consistently come back to throughout the years: ‘I choose happiness.’ It’s a constant reminder to be self-aware, be uniquely you, be happy and to treat people with respect; to be kind, empathetic and to really learn from those around you in any circumstance. Meg does that. Meg has especially developed into an extraordinary businesswoman, actress, writer and advocate for women and children.’

Quite how Lindsay’s claims regarding Meghan stack up when examined are another matter. They seem at absolute variance with what is being paraded before the world’s eyes on a daily basis. Notoriety (I suspect she meant fame but does not know that the word she used is its absolute opposite) did change Meghan. She was not brought up to be selfless. And she has systematically chosen misery and victimhood over happiness since she became confident of her hold over Harry and later on, in 2019, when something happened that so rocked her to her core that she has since then been paddling furiously to avoid the backlash that would be inevitable if its ramifications were ever acknowledged.

Meghan also had another girlfriend she made with whom she would keep in touch. This was Genevieve Hillis, her sorority sister from Kappa Kappa Gamma, but her other closest friend at the time wasn’t Genevieve but an African-American named Larnelle Quentin Foster. The gay but heavily closeted son of pastors who he felt would be disappointed if they knew of his sexuality, he studied acting at Northwestern and would ultimately become a professor of drama. He is now openly gay, but seems to have no relationship with Meghan anymore. In college, though, he lived locally with his parents, and he and Meghan became something of an item, often going to avant-garde theatre shows or ‘just hanging out. We were very social. We were always doing different things, having fun. She was ambitious to be an actress, but we didn’t want to be in rehearsals all day like a lot of the others. We would much rather watch a show than be in one.’

Meghan often joined the Foster family for meals on weekends, and was so much a part of the family’s activities that she would attend services at their church with them. She has always been endlessly obliging when she wished to make an impression on people and earn their regard. She and Larnelle also enjoyed cooking together: her specialty at the time was Indian cuisine. Larnelle would later describe Meghan as being ‘very kind, very genuine, someone who cares deeply about her family, her friends and the world.’

Plainly, the Meghan Lamelle knew is not the Meghan the world now sees, for she has shown just how deeply she cares about her family by not only jettisoning most of them but actively seeking to damage some of them publicly. Meanwhile, all of her friends from childhood have long since bitten the dust, along with most of the friends she made on her climb up the ladder, including her promoter-in-chief, Jessica Mulroney, retaining only those who appear to be useful and compliant.

Having turned down three scholarships to attend Northwestern and study English, Meghan had not been at university long before she decided that she had made the wrong choice of major. She therefore opted to change to theatre, arts and international relations. Although she still aspired to stardom, she was now broadening her horizons to include the possibility of the Corps Diplomatique as a stage. ‘At no time did she consider that hers would be an ordinary life,’ one of her old time friends, who asked to remain anonymous, said. ‘She intended to be a high flyer, no matter what she did. She could envisage herself as a Broadway or film star or an Ambassador or a diplomat whose actions would change the world while improving the lot of humanity.’

With that in mind, Meghan approached her father’s elder brother Michael, a State Department operative whose specialty was US Government communications systems. Within the family, it was accepted that he was CIA. He had been posted to such disparate places as Berlin, Guam, Bucharest, and Ottawa, with his wife Toni, who would die in 2012. He was known to be popular and well-connected within the State Department. Meghan wanted him to find her an internship with a US embassy abroad. She explained that she was considering a career in international relations, and wanted to test the water with some practical experience of the diplomatic life to see if she would like being a diplomat. The difficulty was, she had left it so late that getting what she wanted would mean calling in additional favours from friends.

‘I knew the (American) Ambassador in Buenos Aires,’ the late Michael Markle said. ‘I personally talked to him and got her fixed up with the internship she wanted.’ As a result of her uncle’s string pulling, and her father’s generosity in funding it, she was offered a six week long internship as a junior press officer at the American Embassy in Argentina’s capital city. While there, her duties were those of any other junior press attaché. She answered enquiries, drafted letters, shunted paper from one department to another, generally making herself useful doing what was effectively donkey work. But she struck her superior, Mark Krischik, as both efficient and ingenious. ‘If she had stayed with the State Department, she would have been an excellent addition to the US diplomatic corps. She had all that it takes to be a successful diplomat.’

Attitude and personality, however, were not sufficient to enter the State Department. One also had to pass the Foreign Service Officer Test, which Meghan sat while in Argentina. To her chagrin, she failed it. However, she had planned to fly to Madrid at the end of her internship, under the International Education for Students Program, to take their six week course in Spanish. She adhered to that plan, and would later on find the knowledge she gained useful. If she is to be believed, she remains fluent in Spanish as a result of those six weeks in Spain. She was not tempted, however, to resit the exam. Unused as she was to failure, she ‘decided that her future lay in acting.’ Diplomacy had only been a pipe dream. She also seems to have become aware that that career path would be strewn with more difficulties than she was prepared to accept, the least of which would be passing the qualifying exams. Not only would she have a longer and harder road to travel before she became the star she wanted to be, but the rewards, close up, seemed less attractive than being a star of stage or screen. Her assessment was accurate, for no matter how high flying a careerist a diplomat is, the top of the Corps Diplomatique simply doesn’t have the pizazz or the allure that becoming a stage or screen star does.

This taste of failure, however, was but the first gulp of a potion that Meghan would have to swallow time and again throughout her twenties. Shining brightly in high school and university is not always a precursor to worldly success. In fact, those who sparkle in such safe and structured settings often fail to light up the real world, while those who were more mundane students frequently soar to greater heights once they’re released into the hurly-burly of the real world. So it would prove with Meghan after she graduated from Northwestern’s School of Communication with a Bachelor of Arts degree in theatre and international studies.

While Meghan shone at school and university, Harry, who was born three years and one month after her on the 15th September 1984, did not. If their scholastic records would prove to be as opposite as it was possible to be, their entry into the world had parallels. The then Prince and Princess of Wales’s marriage hit the rocks shortly after Harry’s birth, and while they remained together for the next eight years, before he was even a toddler the marriage was in reality over. For the next eight years, the Waleses’ relationship was a study in a couple avoiding togetherness, except on official occasions. Charles based himself down at Highgrove in Gloucestershire, the house the Duchy of Cornwall had bought for his use from Viscount and Viscountess Macmillan of Ovenden in 1980 prior to his marriage in 1981. According to Charles’s then valet, Stephen Barry, who used to ferry Diana back and forth between Buckingham Palace and Highgrove for midnight assignations with the then heir to the throne, she had a great deal of input with the decoration. Once the marriage foundered, however, she opted to remain in London at Kensington Palace during the week, while Charles based himself down at Highgrove. After their separation, Charles would call in the celebrated interior designer Robert Kime to redo the place to his taste. In the meantime, the couple was seldom together, even on the weekends. Whenever Diana was going to be in residence at Highgrove, Charles would frequently visit friends. So civilised was the arrangement that he allowed her to entertain her lover James Hewitt, even in the country. A noted equestrian, with Charles’s blessing he also taught Diana to ride, and he gave the boys riding lessons though they already knew how to ride.

Although there was a lack of congeniality between Charles and Diana while Tom and Doria were considerably more congenial, both couples had found a way to navigate around the shoals of disappointment to the extent that their children were able to have good relationships with both parents. Superficially, both sets of parents might have aimed for an absence of overt hostility, but only the Markles were successful in maintaining this consistently. This was largely due to Diana’s emotional state. If she was happily distracted by a lover, she and Charles would have a relatively civilised, indeed settled, relationship. Sometimes it was even affectionate, in the way a brother and sister who are not particularly close but have a basic fondness for each other, would behave towards each other. This was especially true throughout the second half of the eighties, when Diana’s affair with James Hewitt was flourishing. However, whenever her love life was not satisfactory, she would turn a fully loaded fusillade on Charles and blow serenity out of the water.

At times like these, everything was his fault. He had ruined her life by being the man he was and not being the man she had wanted him to be. But for him, her life would have been perfect. The scenes were traumatic for all concerned, including the children, for, while Charles was non-confrontational and would do everything in his power to avoid an argument, Diana was the antithesis. When she was spoiling for a fight, she made sure she got it and that everyone knew about it. She would scream the house down. She would be on the rampage for hours. She would hurl abuse and objects and always reduce herself to tears of frustration and hysteria. Because Diana was never faithful to any one lover, including James Hewitt and Hasnat Khan, the two men she later claimed she was truly in love with, and because she was always on the lookout for the perfect man who would make her life complete, her love life was volatile even when it was relatively settled. There was always an unpredictable element as to what would set her off, for the triggers had nothing to do with her husband or even her lover’s behaviour, but her inner need to feel loved: and to feel that that love was something she could rely upon. Always careful to direct her eruptions in her husband’s rather than her lovers’ direction, this did not make for a stable or happy atmosphere at home. Then, when things settled down, she would revert to being civilised, accommodating Diana who understood that she had to remain married to Charles and the best way forward was for them to continue leading separate but civilised existences, he with his mistress, she with her lover.

As Diana approached thirty, however, she began to question why she had to remain married to Charles. She was frank about wanting a loving marriage and a daughter. This introduced a whole new level of volatility into her family life. No longer was the trigger solely when she was dissatisfied with her love life. Now, whenever she was so satisfied with it that she fantasised about divorcing her husband and marrying whichever of the lovers she wanted to marry at that moment - the main candidates were James Hewitt, Oliver Hoare, and Hasnat Khan - she set about tearing the place apart in her quest for her liberty.

Diana had an advantage over Charles that neither Tom nor Doria had over each other, but which Meghan shares with Diana. Both women, from early childhood, were products of broken homes. Both learnt from an early age how to navigate between opposing factions, how to play Peter off against Paul so that they would get what they wanted. Both were soft and sweet when it suited them, but both were also tough beneath the ostensibly vulnerable exteriors. Both had developed the tactical abilities unique to the children of broken homes. They learn at an early age how to palliate, negotiate, and use whatever tools work well for them to achieve their goal: whatever that goal was.

Although Meghan was brought up in a more superficially peaceable environment, Diana, for all her volatility, was a loving and obliging mother. She was also the ultimate authority figure in the Wales nuclear family. She was insistent that her children would grow up to be spirited. She decreed that they would not be so disciplined, the way other royal children were, that they would have the spontaneity drained out of them. Charles was not allowed to interfere and there was never any prospect of Queen Elizabeth II intervening, though she often despaired of the lack of a firm hand to friends and relations.

Although the titular head of the family, Elizabeth II, known in the family as Lilibet, was not its de facto head. That was the then Duke of Edinburgh, Prince Philip, whose role was consistently challenged and often undermined by Lilibet’s powerful mother, Queen Elizabeth The Queen Mother. Lilibet was therefore used to two dominant figures in her immediate family, her husband and her mother, neither of whom liked the other and both of whom she palliated in her desire to have a happy and harmonious family. Her attitude only further eroded the influence she and her husband had with their eldest son, and, by extension, his wife.

Although Philip tried as best he could to lay down the ground rules within his own nuclear, Mountbatten-Windsor, branch of the family, the Queen Mother was a constant source of opposition where Charles was concerned. She had always been, ever since he was a toddler. She never caused problems with the three youngest royal children, leading more than one royal relation to observe that the only reason why she interfered with Charles was that he was going to be King one day. She had made sure with her daughter the Queen, and now with her grandson the future King, that she would leave her imprimatur on the Crown by way of her influence over them. Her avowed reason with Lilibet had been and remained that she knew best what the Crown needed, and with Charles it was that neither of his parents ‘understood’ him the way she did. She felt that it was her right as a grandmother and dowager queen consort to encourage him and give him all the love and direction she felt he needed.

Being supportive of a man who will not stand up to his wife is no way to solve the underlying problem of how children should be disciplined. The Queen Mother was therefore inadvertently reinforcing the vacuum of influence Charles had within his own nuclear family. A vacuum which was also fostered by his hands-off mother and the father whom he at times viewed with antagonism, for by this time Charles’s relationship with both the Queen and Prince Philip was more distant than it would be in the years to come.

As William and Harry grew up, becoming ever wilder, word began to spread in aristocratic circles how out of control they were. The late Kenneth Rose, one of the best connected journalists of his day whose personal friendships with several of the royals, especially Prince Edward, Duke of Kent, was an open secret, wrote in his diary, following a weekend with Philip’s first cousin Lady Pamela Mountbatten and her husband David Hicks, how thirteen year old ‘Prince William is tiresome, always attracting attention to himself. Hardly surprising when he is so spoilt by the tug-of-war of his parents, and by courtiers, servants and private detectives.’

Although Prince Philip was the paterfamilias with a huge amount of influence where his three other children were concerned, his lack of influence with Charles was noteworthy. He and the then Queen’s position as parents to Charles had been so undermined over the years by the Queen Mother that parents and son were virtually estranged at this juncture. They saw as little of each other as possible, and when they were together, they were polite the way strangers are to each other. ‘There was absolutely no warmth between them. I think the Queen and the Duke of Edinburgh would have liked things to be different, but Charles simply wasn’t interested,’ a prince told me. Philip therefore was not in a position to provide the critical intervention everyone in the family felt William and Harry needed to be brought up with a sufficient degree of discipline to enable them ultimately to perform their royal duties properly. So the two boys continued to grow up in their wild way, with all the royal adults bemoaning the lack of regulation their mother had decreed appropriate.

At the time, none of the royals realised that Diana was actually encouraging her sons to be recalcitrant. The boys would inadvertently reveal this later on, when they said that she used to tell them, ‘I don’t care what you do as long as you don’t get caught.’ Of course, Diana didn’t mean that they could literally do anything they wanted. She expected them at all times to treat the staff well. She would never have tolerated them being rude to strangers when out in public. She never-endingly reiterated how they must always remember they were royal and therefore they should behave to the world at large in a royal manner. But, beneath it all, Diana was preaching the same lesson Joseph Kennedy had taught his boys: You can break the rules as long as you aren’t found out. It isn’t the rules that matter so much as making sure no one catches you out when you break them. As long as you don’t suffer the consequences of the breach, it’s okay. It has often been said that Joe Kennedy encouraged his sons to be amoral by instilling this code. If that is so, Diana was doing the same.

This freewheeling attitude was anathema to the Royal Family. The rules mattered. Humans being human, everyone would sometimes break the rules. But an awareness of being subject to the rules, as opposed to being above them, was an important part of being properly royal. No one exemplified this more than King George VI and his wife Queen Elizabeth. The Queen Mother had ruled her own immediate family, known to themselves as ‘Us Four’, with an iron hand in a velvet glove from the very beginning of her marriage. The king had been under the thumb of his wife from before he even slipped the ring on her finger. Their two daughters, Princesses Elizabeth and Margaret, were also reared from birth to defer at all times to their mother. The former Lady Elizabeth Bowes-Lyon had been a stickler for a happy home life grounded in good form and traditional values. These did not conflict at all with the royal regimen. Indeed, the way the future Queen Mother set up her family life reinforced it, for she overlaid iron discipline with a coating of charm and personability while adhering at all times to traditional royal codes of conduct. Lilibet and her sister Margaret were therefore brought up to be perfect princesses, and it would only be after the Queen Mother’s death that Lilibet’s less formal side was given vent publicly. Till then, she had to be as buttoned up as her mother required. She would never have agreed to the famous James Bond skit with Daniel Craig and Paul Whybrew which garnered her so much praise when she ostensibly jumped out of a helicopter with him to arrive at the opening ceremony of the 2012 London Olympics.

Considering that Queen Elizabeth II was in her mid-seventies when her mother died, the degree of control imposed by the Queen Mother was striking. The contrast between that royal way and Diana’s could not have been more extreme. Although both Lilibet and Princess Margaret were very much their own women privately, the elder sister was by nature reserved, though a fearsome mimic, while also being a wit and fun loving. The younger was decidedly more outgoing and unorthodox, more outrageous and even more fun loving. But all within the confines of what constituted acceptable royal behaviour.

Despite their fun-loving natures, neither sister ever stretched royal boundaries when bringing their children up. All six of them - Prince Charles, Princess Anne, Prince Andrew, Prince Edward, Lord Linley and Lady Sarah Armstrong-Jones - were reared in keeping with ancient royal and aristocratic traditions. They were well behaved children who grew into well-mannered, well-disciplined and traditionally behaved royals and aristocrats. This meant that when they were in public, they conducted themselves as they were expected to, and not as they themselves wished, even though in the privacy of their own homes their standards might slacken.

This was certainly not true of Diana’s children. Both boys were allowed to ‘run wild’, to quote Princess Margaret. By the time Diana and Charles’s firstborn, William, was three, Elizabeth II was bemoaning how undisciplined he was. In 1986, when he was a page at his Uncle Andrew’s wedding to Sarah Ferguson, he endeared himself to the public, though not to his own family, by fidgeting, sticking his tongue out, and generally behaving like the naughty four year old that he was. Harry, at a year old, was still too young for anyone to know if he would follow in his brother’s footsteps, but the harbingers, which would turn out to be only too accurate, were not good. Diana encouraged indiscipline, and wildness is what she got.

Up to that point, there had only been one wild royal child that anyone could think of in the British Royal Family. That had been Queen Elizabeth II’s late uncle John, the epileptic and (judging from his behaviour) autistic youngest son of the late King George V and Queen Mary. Uncontrollable, his father used to say that he was the only person whom he could never get to obey him. The unruly but tragic John died at the age of thirteen of an epileptic fit in 1919, two months after the end of the First World War. Although his parents had loved him, there was an almost audible sigh of relief that nature had come to the rescue, for there was every indication that John would have become a major embarrassment to the monarchy had he lived to adulthood.

Whether William and Harry would follow on the path of Great-Great Uncle John remained to be seen, but the question of how the boys should be disciplined was not straightforward owing to the family dynamics. Charles was Queen Elizabeth The Queen Mother’s favourite grandchild. As far as she was concerned, he could do no wrong. If he wanted to turn a blind eye to the way his children were being reared, she did not feel it was up to her to interfere. Moreover, she understood Charles’s predicament. She sympathised with his powerlessness as a father and husband in the face of a wife as powerfully driven as Diana.

The Queen Mother’s insights into Diana’s mode of behaviour came not only from what she knew through her own family, but through Diana’s as well. One of the Queen Mother’s Women of the Bedchamber was Diana’s grandmother Ruth, Lady Fermoy, who violently disapproved of Diana’s conduct, to such an extent that by the time of her death in 1993 she was no longer speaking to her granddaughter. Lady Fermoy regarded Diana as treacherous, dangerous, and irresponsible. She felt that she had been an appalling Princess of Wales, had undermined the monarchy, was a bad daughter and granddaughter, had been anything but a good wife, and moreover was proving to be a dangerously lax mother. In 1996, the former Archbishop of Canterbury, Robert Runcie, gilded that lily when he said, ‘Ruth was very distressed by Diana’s behaviour. She was totally a Charles person, because she’s seen him grow up, loved him like all the women at court do, and regarded Diana as an actress, a schemer.’

On the other hand, Diana thought that her own family and the Royal Family were out of touch with the mores of the time. She felt that they all needed to loosen up a bit, to be less preoccupied with good behaviour and become more in touch with their feelings. Not for her the stiff upper lip. Whether she was happy or sad, she made sure everyone knew about it. She felt it was important for people to be in touch with their feelings, and to show them, rather than concealing them behind a facade of good behaviour.

In many ways, Diana was more in touch with the values of her age than either the family into which she had been born or married. She was determined that her children would not grow up straightjacketed by decorum the way royal and to a lesser extent aristocratic children used to be. The royals especially had always been isolated from everyday life and indeed from the equalising ebb and flow of ordinary friendship. Even in Charles’s generation, all British royals expected their closest friends, and often their lower-ranking cousins, to refer to them as Sir and Ma’am instead of by their Christian names. All Charles’s girlfriends were obliged to call him Sir, and the Queen Mother’s brother, Sir David Bowes-Lyon, had to address her as Ma’am even when entertaining her at his home, St. Paul’s Walden Bury, although the only other person present was his good friend and neighbour Burnett Pavitt. It was this level of formality which Diana rightly sought to change, and which William and Catherine would ultimately change once they were married and fully functioning royals. Having lived in a less restrictive world, Diana was determined that her children would have upbringings that allowed them to relate to people on a human level, devoid of the crippling restrictions that royal formality imposed. They were to be referred to as Wills (or William) and Harry, not Your Royal Highness or Sir. They could go and bother the staff in the kitchen. They would be people first and princes second.

Harry, however, had one handicap that was insurmountable. He was the second son. Second sons do not count in royal or aristocratic circles except as spares. Everything goes to the first son. There can be only one king, duke, marquis, earl, viscount or baron. Only the firstborn son can inherit the throne, palace, castle, estate and all its chattels. Second sons, of course, do inherit something. They have secondary titles, secondary possessions, secondary incomes which go along with their secondary status. But the only way to preserve the patrimony is for virtually everything to devolve upon the firstborn son.

In the world into which Harry was born, second sons are second class citizens. The phenomenon is so well known that it even has its own name: Second Son Syndrome. This does not necessarily have to be a problem. My boyfriend before marriage was a second son. I married a second son; and my longstanding boyfriend after marriage was a second son. Some second sons cope with their status better than others. My boyfriend before marriage and my boyfriend after marriage both coped with it well, but many second sons are bitterly envious of their elder brothers. They resent the fact that an accident of birth prevented them from getting the lion’s share of the money, status, power and privilege. They forget that their status as second sons also means that they remain scions of privilege, which is also an accident of birth, and that they could equally have been born into penury in Somalia instead of the lap of luxury in Great Britain.

Some mothers deal with Second Son Syndrome better than others. Some bring their children up to accept that life is not fair, that you should count your blessings and be grateful for small as well as large mercies, and not covet thy brother’s wife, ass nor goods, in keeping with the dictat of the tenth Commandment. They point out to their second sons how lucky they are that they will not have to live up to a patrimony that might be laden with privilege but is heavily offset by the crushing weight of responsibility for which nature might not have equipped either son, but which the first born will have to learn to bear whether he is inclined to do so or not. Other mothers make it so obvious that they prefer the child who will inherit the throne or the peerage that they mess up both the first and second sons for the remainder of their lives. Still others do what Diana did. They overcompensate. Although she always kept the boys grounded with the knowledge that only William would one day be King, she nevertheless tried to equalise an unequal situation, figuring, incorrectly, that she could redress the balance by providing Harry with additional emotional security. Darren McGrady, the chef at Kensington Palace from 1993 to 1997, recounted how she used to tell him, ‘You take care of the heir; I’ll take care of the spare.’ She openly said that she knew that William would always be alright; Harry was the one she had to look out for. She thought Harry was like her, ‘an airhead’ as she used to put it, while William ‘is like his father.’

Just as how the young Meghan felt the issue of her race impacting more acutely upon herself than those around her realised, so too was Harry aware from an early age of the disparity between himself and his elder brother. He used to complain that the Queen Mother showered William with attention while virtually ignoring him; that she had William sit close by her while he was relegated to a Siberian seat. Once, he was terrifically upset when the butler brought sandwiches for her and William but none for him. I find it difficult to believe that Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother would have countenanced such a slight, and suspect that a crucial element of the story was omitted in the recounting. Nevertheless, the fact remains that from an early age Harry was acutely conscious of the difference in importance between himself and William, to such an extent, that Diana’s protection officer Ken Wharfe recounted how, when he was four or five, Harry informed their nanny, who was reprimanding William, ‘It doesn’t matter anyway, because William is going to be King.’ Wharfe found it amazing that Harry could, even at that tender age, be so aware of that fact.

The two year age difference meant that both boys were at different stages developmentally. Harry was a soft and sweet child who loved nothing better than curling up with his mother on a sofa or bed and looking at movies or shows on television with her. He was an unashamed Mummy’s boy, while his elder brother made his presence felt in such an independent, indeed aggressive, manner that he was known as ‘Basher’.

Given a choice, children are much happier having fun in the country than staying in the city. Palaces are little different from ordinary houses save in scale, and both boys liked nothing better than going down to Highgrove for the weekend with their father. Contrary to the misinformation that Diana later on spread about her husband, Charles was a good and involved father whose children loved him as much as he loved them. He used to play with them the way his playful father used to with him. He had a special play pit built which was filled with colourful balls and he used to dive into it with them. He had a treehouse built for them. He took them for long walks throughout the property, opening their eyes to the beauties of nature while instructing them on the flora which were such a passion of his. He took them to see the newly born lambs, encouraged them to keep pets - their mother was not an animal lover - and showed Harry how to take care of his favourite, a rabbit. Charles loved the countryside, and as the boys grew up they too developed a love for it. They learnt to shoot rabbits and to relish being out of doors, which was definitely not something their avowedly ‘Metropolitan Babe’ mother enjoyed.

Harry and William both had ponies, and from an early age Harry was taught to ride, first by a local instructor named Marion Cox, then by James Hewitt. Harry was fearless and had what his aunt Anne, an Olympic equestrienne who was a Burghley gold medallist, called ‘a good seat’. A love of horses, of course, ran in the Royal Family. Both the Queen and Queen Mother were avid turfites and equestriennes. Prince Philip had been a world-class polo player and, upon retiring, had taken up carriage-driving. Prince Charles had also been a polo player, and Princess Anne felt that Harry had such natural ability that he could grow up to compete, as long as he dedicated himself to the sport.

But more than horses, what Harry loved from an early age was all things military. James Hewitt told me in the 1990s how he had mini-uniforms made for both princes, and how they absolutely adored parading around in them, especially after James taught them to salute properly. However, it was Harry, not William, who truly loved the military, and even at that early age it was apparent that his niche would be a career in the armed forces.

This was just as well, for once Harry started school it quickly became apparent that he was as unacademic as his mother had been. At the age of three, he followed William to a Montessori kindergarten, Mrs. Mynors’ Nursery School in Chepstow Villas in Notting Hill, a five minute drive from Kensington Palace. Jane Mynors was a bishop’s daughter whose thirty-six charges started their day with a prayer, following which they moved on to singing, cutting paper with scissors and making shapes, or playing out of doors. Throughout the years that the children were being prepared to begin their formal education, they were expected to learn how to paint and sing, but not how to read. Although Harry seemed to start well enough, his progress was not helped by Diana’s propensity for allowing him to play truant. He preferred to stay at home with her, cuddling in her lap for hours while they watched movies, rather than attending school. Diana’s friend Simone Simmons remembered how ‘he used to go down with more coughs and colds than William, but it was nothing serious. Most of the time I think he just wanted to be at home with his Mummy. He loved having her to himself and not having to compete with William.’

Diana also enjoyed having him to herself. Harry’s stay at Mrs. Mynors’ coincided with the height of Diana’s love affair with James Hewitt. At various times, she would surrender to the fantasy of being married to him, creating a degree of frustration for herself that cannot have been conducive to serenity. Her children, Harry especially, were her comfort, and she derived as much emotional gratification from interacting with them as they did from her.

On Wednesdays, Diana took the boys to have tea with their grandmother Queen Elizabeth II. She would warn them to be on their best behaviour, and doubtless they thought they were, but they possessed an uncontained air which was apparent even when they were being good. Harry was especially ‘demonstrative and affectionate, the most huggable little boy,’ according to Diana’s friend Carolyn Bartholomew, which in itself indicated a degree of emotionalism that did not sit well with the royal way in which emotional containment is prized over demonstrativeness. Already there were concerns that under Diana’s ministrations the boys might grow up to be as hyper-emotional as she was. And that was something no one wanted.

At the age of five, Harry followed William to Wetherby Pre-Preparatory School in Wetherby Gardens, Kensington. This was even nearer to Kensington Palace than Mrs. Mynors’. Now that Harry was that much older, staying home curled up on sofas watching movies with Mummy had less appeal, so his attendance record improved. He was a popular student, boisterous and fun-loving, qualities he would carry into adulthood, at least until marriage. When he was not at school he would haunt the staff quarters at home, chatting to the staff and begging Ken Wharfe, his mother’s protection officer, to set him tasks. Harry liked nothing better than being given military assignments. Everyone was convinced his future would be in the military.

Harry was also a natural athlete. He was good at everything he did. Having learnt to ski at the age of six, he was fearless on the slopes, though sometimes stopping was a problem. Once he had to be dug out of the mud when he ran out of snow and ended up in the bushes.

He would soon have greater scope for his athleticism. In September 1992, Harry was sent to Ludgrove School, a preparatory school in Wokingham, Berkshire, near Windsor Castle and even nearer to his grandmother’s racecourse, Ascot. William was already a pupil. Having his elder brother there made the transition easier. For the first few weeks, like most new boys Harry was homesick, but he made the adjustment, partly with the help of William and partly by discovering that he now had a host of athletic activities from which to choose. Soon he was enthusiastically playing football, tennis, rugby, and cricket, his physical prowess compensating for his intellectual insufficiencies. It was quickly apparent that Diana was right. Harry was his mother’s son. He had no academic bent whatsoever. This was something of a disappointment to his father and the school, for William was following in his father’s footsteps and displaying intellectual interest in a host of subjects.

Later that year, the Queen would label 1992 as her annus horribilis. It cannot have been easy for Harry to start boarding school at the height of the War of the Waleses, as the spectacular unfurling of his parents’ marriage became known. The first shot across the bow had been the publication in March of that year of this author’s Diana in Private: The Princess Nobody Knows, which revealed that both the Prince and Princess of Wales had had extra-marital affairs, that she wanted out of the marriage, that she suffered from bulimia, and even that she believed that her late lover Barry Mannakee, formerly her protection officer, had been wiped out to prevent him from speaking out about their affair: a belief she would later confirm in print and on television. (The author never shared her belief, and always thought that Mannakee died in a genuine road accident.) The book became a worldwide best seller, hitting the New York Times and Sunday Times Best Sellers’ lists. Several months later, Andrew Morton’s book Diana: Her True Story was published. When it became apparent that this had been written with Diana’s connivance, Morton’s book made an even bigger splash, the public naively believing that its contents must be true if Diana was behind its publication. The reality was, of course, that Diana had contributed to the contents of both books, and the reason why the Morton book had come to be written was that she and this author had fallen out because of her determination to propound a version of her tale so heavily slanted in her favour that it was more propaganda than fact.

From the children’s point of view, however, the most excruciating incident must have been the publication of the Squidgygate Tapes on the 23rd August 1992 in the Sun, the best-selling British tabloid. These tapes could also be listened to for a fee, and while the most intimate minutes had been edited out, the remainder left no room for doubt. Diana had been having an affair with James Gilbey and, even more important, her contempt for the Royal Family was self-evident. As she put it, resentful that they were not more grateful for her presence amongst them, ‘after all I’ve done for that fucking family’.

Worse was to emanate from the Wales quarter as Harry adjusted to his new school. In November his parents went on a tour of South Korea. Instead of Anglo/South Korean relations, as the story was supposed to be, so disaffected was Diana’s demeanour, so self-evidently miserable was she in the presence of her husband, that the narrative became yet again the disastrous state of the Wales marriage. Ludgrove School’s response was to deny their students access to newspapers, in the hope that Harry and William would not be affected by the public speculation about the state of their parents’ marriage.

In many ways, Ludgrove’s headmaster Gerald Barber could not have handled the situation better. By filtering out bad news, he created a cocoon in which his students flourished undisturbed by the ugly realities of the outside world. Harry and William were thereby protected as much as possible from the consequences of the scandal surrounding the disintegration of their parents’ marriage. They would attend classes, play games, and interact with the other students as if life were continuing as normal outside the school’s precincts, when of course the opposite was true.

When Charles and Diana returned from the disastrous South Korean trip, Queen Elizabeth II consented to their separation. Up to then, she and Prince Philip had encouraged her daughter-in-law to stay within the marriage, but by now it was obvious to the Sovereign and her Consort that the only solution would be for Charles and Diana to part officially. With her goal of separation achieved, Diana arranged with Gerald Barber to meet her boys in his study, where she broke the news to them that she and Daddy would be living apart, though they both still loved their boys and nothing would really change.

In truth, this was much more than a mere figure of speech. The Prince and Princess of Wales had been de facto separated since Harry had been a toddler. Very little would change in terms of their actual lifestyle, except that Diana and Charles would no longer have to endure the excruciating pretence of being a couple on the few occasions that duty or convenience pitted them together. As Patrick Jephson, Diana’s Private Secretary, put it, weekends had been ‘a real source of difficulty for them both’ and now that they were separated, it was hoped that the tug of war which, it has to be said, Diana was largely responsible for, would come to an end. However, it did not, at least not in the shorter term, for Diana continued to make as many difficulties as she could. Only after she had overplayed her hand in the scandalous interview in November 1995 with Martin Bashir, who lied, cheated, forged documents and deceived her into believing that the Palace, her Private Secretary and protection officers, amongst others, were betraying her interests - thereby heightening her sense of paranoia, as Prince William would rightly observe some twenty five years later, and which resulted in a host of unanticipated and unwanted difficulties for her - did she rethink her tactics and become more cooperative. And by then her boys had grown up sufficiently to be expressing their desire to spend more time with their father and his family in the country, enjoying rural pursuits such as shooting, stalking, fishing, and riding, rather than remaining in London with Diana at Kensington Palace, a metropolis which she found desirable, but whose attractions had palled for both boys, though these would return once they grew a bit older and nightlife became a bigger feature in their lives.

Harry started to cry when Diana broke the news of the separation, but William, whose age had given him more insight into the realities of his parents’ lives, simply kissed her on the cheek and said he hoped she and Charles would ‘both be happier now’. After Diana had left, William, playing the bigger and wiser brother, suggested the way forward for both of them: they should not take sides, should show no preference, and should respect both their parents equally. Harry agreed, and thereafter that became the modus operandi of both boys until Meghan entered Harry’s life and began playing him as if she were Maxim Vengerov on a Stradivarius.

For the three remaining years that William stayed at Ludgrove with Harry, the brothers’ performances could not have been more dissimilar. Harry’s academic performance was a repetition of Diana’s when she had been at the same school as her academically gifted eldest sister, and Diana saw no more reason for Harry’s performance to bother her than it had when she was in the same boat. The message she always gave out to Harry - and everyone else - was that they were two peas in one pod. Look at how well life had turned out for her. You didn’t need to achieve academically to flourish after school. Of course she was right, but more than being technically right, she was playing to Harry’s strengths, and encouraging him to feel good about himself despite his poor scholastic results.

In 1995 William left Ludgrove and in September started at Eton. Charles, Diana and Harry all accompanied him on his first day. Harry would join him three years later, by which time their mother was dead. Of course, Diana’s death hit both boys hard, but Harry was hit even harder than William. He had always been a mummy’s boy, and, being that much younger than William, was less equipped to cope with the loss. That he also blew his mother off during their last telephone call cannot have helped his emotional state, which must have been influenced by a discomfiting degree of regret as a result of not finding the time to speak to her as she had wished him to do. None of this helped him academically, and his stay at Eton was ‘difficult’.

I know from friends whose children are presently attending Eton that, until Harry began sullying his reputation following his departure for life in California, the school regarded it as a distinction to have educated the Heir and Spare to the Throne. Despite the pride they used to exhibit in his attendance, Harry’s Eton days were nevertheless anything but distinguished. ‘He would never have been accepted had he not been Prince Henry of Wales,’ an Old Etonian who maintains good links to the school told me. ‘He simply did not possess the intelligence to perform adequately at such an academic school. He’d’ve been far better off attending Gordonstoun, where character counts for far more than academic results.’

Another Etonian says, ‘To this day, there are all sorts of stories doing the rounds (at Eton) of how the school had to alter its academic requirements so that Harry could pass tests. And even then, he’d fail them, to the despair of his masters.’

Many of these claims were borne out by the findings of an Employment Tribunal in 2005, when Sarah Forsyth, an art mistress, sued Eton for unfair dismissal. She maintained that she had been asked by the Head of Art, Ian Burke, ‘to assist Prince Harry with text for his expressive art project’ for his Art A-Level examination. During the trial, there was evidence suggesting that Eton had not only thrashed around to find positive ways of marking Harry’s entrance examinations, but that thereafter they had struggled to have him pass his further exams. The Headmaster Tony Little, Deputy Headmaster the Rev John Puddefoot, Ian Burke, and other members of ‘staff were bluntly accused by the tribunal of being unsatisfactory witnesses whose words were unreliable’ when it found in favour of Ms. Forsyth. Damningly, the Tribunal concluded that while it was not called upon to find whether Eton had assisted Harry in cheating on his exams, this was because ‘(i)t is no part of this tribunal’s function to determine whether or not it was legitimate. That is for Edexcel - the examination board.’

By the time of Harry’s arrival at Eton, William had established himself as a successful student with both masters and pupils. He had done well academically. He was athletic. He got along with his peers. Later on, he would be elected into the group of school prefects called Pop, would be chosen as Head of the Oppidan Wall, and be awarded the Sword of Honour as an army cadet. ‘William was genuinely popular. He was liked by everyone. The same could not be said of Harry,’ a parent of one of Harry’s contemporaries told me. ‘Harry was not liked. He was bumptious and antagonistic. He was a very angry young man. He swanned around rubbing everyone’s nose in being Prince Henry of Wales: just the sort of thing not to do. Eton has always had royalty. Queen Elizabeth II’s Uncle Harry, the Duke of Gloucester, was at Eton, as were his two sons Princes William and Richard, and his nephews Eddie (the Duke of Kent) and Prince Michael. So too was Queen Mary’s brother, Prince Alexander of Teck, and his son Prince Rupert, whose mother was Queen Victoria’s granddaughter Princess Alice of Albany. The King of Nepal. King Leopold III of the Belgians…the list is fairly endless. Harry had a definite chip on his shoulder and it made him unpopular.’

Harry would later claim that he struggled not only academically, but even with sports. Although he still excelled in them, he claimed that even rugby was a problem because boys ‘would see me on the rugby field as an opportunity to smash me up.’ This, in truth, was only part of the problem. Harry could be needlessly vitriolic, such as when he was pitted against a Jewish opponent from one of the other top public schools and hurled anti-Semitic abuse at him, a fact I received from a priest who was at school with this boy. Just as Meghan’s colour was an unseen problem for her, Harry’s royal status - or at least, his own perception of it and the extent to which it should proffer licence - was shaping up into becoming a problem for him. And both he and his wife, who seemed to share a sense of victimhood born not of the reality of their circumstances but of their feelings of entitlement about their right to sail through life unopposed by anyone or anything, would react with a rage and a bitterness that were as perplexing as they were destructive.

‘I didn’t enjoy school at all,’ Harry admitted. His solution was to act up and act out. ‘I wanted to be the bad boy.’ And he was. He snuck out of school. He drank and smoked. He was abusive. And he dabbled in drugs.

People whose children were at school with him claim that he was ‘unpopular with the boys, but the masters cut him some slack, not only because he was a prince - though that was the larger part of the reason - but also because he had lost his mother so tragically. Who could forget that poor little twelve year old walking behind his mother’s coffin with the wreath spelling out Mummy?’

Fortunately for Harry, and to a lesser extent William, at the time of their mother’s death they had a secondary female figure who had been playing a significant part in their lives since the time of their parents’ separation. Alexandra ‘Tiggy’ Legge-Bourke had been appointed Personal Assistant to the Prince of Wales in 1993, shortly after his separation from Diana. Her brief was simple. She was responsible for the welfare and, to a lesser extent the entertainment, of the two princes when they were in their father’s charge. Although she has frequently been described as the nanny, this description is inaccurate. If anything, the old French monarchic description of Gouverneuse to the royal children more correctly captured her status, for she was most decidedly a member of the upper class, which nannies are not. Then twenty-eight, her royal credentials were impeccable. Her brother Harry had been a Page of Honour to Queen Elizabeth II between 1985 and 1987. Her maternal grandfather, the 3rd Lord Glanusk, had been Lord Lieutenant of Brecknockshire during the reign of Queen Elizabeth II’s father King George VI. (Lords Lieutenant are the Monarch’s representatives in the various counties.) Her mother, the Hon. Shân Legge-Bourke, had been a lady-in-waiting to the Princess Royal since 1987, had been appointed in 1991 High Sheriff of Powys, and would later be made Lord Lieutenant of Powys, where the family’s 6,000 acre Glanusk Park estate was situated.

Tiggy’s brief was simple: Keep the boys occupied. Having been appointed because she was the embodiment of the aristocratic, no-nonsense, down-to-earth way of doing things, she articulated the difference between her approach and Diana’s: ‘I give them what they need at this stage: fresh air, a rifle, and a horse. She gives them a tennis racket and a bucket of popcorn at the movies.’

Diana had always been jealous of any woman to whom her children warmed. When they became too fond of their nanny Barbara Barnes, who had previously been nanny to Princess Margaret’s great friends Lord and Lady Glenconner’s children, she got rid of her with a speed that was truly astonishing to those who did not realise how competitive and possessive she was. However, there was little she could do once it became apparent that both boys ‘adored Tiggy’, as both Princess Margaret and her cousin Lady Elizabeth Anson confirmed.

The Royal Family was delighted that the boys had a more rural female in their lives to counterbalance their metropolitan mother’s influence. Diana tried using Tiggy’s smoking against her, demanding that her sons not be in the same room when she was smoking. This, and other ploys such as demanding that Tiggy leave the room when Diana was speaking to her sons on the telephone, failed to weaken Tiggy’s hold over the boys. Within the year Diana was obsessing about her.

Ever prone to seeing squiggles where everyone else saw straight lines, Diana told her solicitor Lord Mishcon that ‘Camilla was not really Charles’s lover, but a decoy for his real favourite, the nanny Tiggy Legge-Bourke,’ a fact he attested to during Lord Justice Scott Baker’s inquest into Diana’s death in October 2007.
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